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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

Dear Minister, 
In accordance with the Financial Management 
Act 2006, we hereby submit for your information 
and presentation to Parliament the Annual Report 
of the Armadale Redevelopment Authority for the 
year ended 30 June 2008.

The Annual report has been prepared in 
accordance with the provisions of the above Act.

Yours sincerely
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Gerry Gauntlett

Chairperson,  
Armadale Redevelopment Authority  
Board

Kay Hallahan

Deputy Chairperson,  
Armadale Redevelopment Authority 
Board

John Ellis

Executive Director,  
Armadale Redevelopment Authority 



1. CHAIRPERSON’S REPORT

From the outset, the Authority drew benefit 
from two important partnerships.  A close 
relationship with the City of Armadale 
ensures local knowledge is harnessed and 
civil works can achieve agreed standards.  
LandCorp, on the other hand, provides 
invaluable corporate and project assistance 
through a Service Level Agreement designed 
to tap into the wealth of corporate knowledge 
and systems residing in LandCorp.

Many other organisations and individuals can 
proudly lay claim to assisting the Authority, 
including a large team of multi disciplined 
professional consultants.

I will not attempt to name all those who 
deserve to be recognised.  Rather I will 
highlight a couple of key projects and those 
who helped steer them from outside the 
Authority.  The guidance provided by Dr Dawn 
Casey, former CEO of the WA Museum, was 
instrumental in harnessing the views of the 
local Aboriginal community to arrive at a 
design for the Aboriginal Interpretive Centre 
at Champion Lakes.

The Wungong Urban Water project has 
evolved after more than three years of 
intensive planning.  While many have played 
important roles, I would like to single out 
Professor Richard Weller and Catharina Sack, 
UWA School of Landscape Architecture; 
Professor Geoffrey London, the Government 
Architect; Dr Don McFarlane, CSIRO; 
Ray Stokes, Department of Planning and 
Infrastructure; Steve Hiller, Water Corporation; 
and Greg Davis, Department of Water.

The role of the State Government needs to be 
highlighted.  Since establishing the Authority 
in early 2002, the State has contributed 
substantial funding support to allow the 
Authority to undertake its civil works in the City 
Centre, Kelmscott town centre, the Forrestdale 
Business Park, and Champion Lakes.

I would also like to recognise the  
continuing guidance of the Minister,  
Alannah MacTiernan and the wholehearted 
support of my fellow Board members.   
It is also with much sadness that I report  
the death of Board Member Verity Allan  
on 16 June.  To recognise the great 
contribution Verity made not only to the 
Authority but also in the areas of planning 
and sustainability, the Board intends to 
establish an appropriate memorial.

As the Authority progresses through the implementation phase of its operations, it is 
time to reflect on those who have assisted us to achieve the strong planning position 
on which to base project delivery.
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A marked change during the year was the 
quantum move in activities from strategic 
planning to statutory planning and project 
delivery in the land development side.  On 
the social side, a focus was on instilling 
resilience into social focussed projects.

The ARA initiated a resilient community 
project which focussed on managing the 
risk associated with the impact of external 
and local conditions on the Armadale area, 
enabling community projects to plan for 
and manage identified risks. Other key ARA 
projects included the NAIDOC Week Art 
Exhibition, the Champion Lakes Aboriginal 
Interpretive Centre, the Armadale Producers 
Market, Connected Community’s and the 
planned Armadale Film Festival.

In November the Wungong Urban Water 
project was recognised by the Planning 
Institute of Australia (WA Division) Awards 
where the project received the Presidents 
Award in addition to the Environmental 
Planning Award for Excellence.  This was 
followed in February with the Gazettal of the 
Wungong Scheme to action the development 
of 16,000 lots providing the base for the 
growth of Armadale.

In November, a Deed with the Australian 
Government was signed to finalise the 
grant of $6.19 million to the Wungong 
Project under the Water Smart Australia 
program.  Wungong is the only urban area in 
Australia to receive such funding.  The State 
Government matched the Federal $6.19 
million plus provided an additional $6.3 
million over three years to seed fund the 
$250 million Wungong developer contribution 
scheme.

The future employment hub of the 
Forrestdale Business Park was expanded 
by a further 170 ha.  The area is now well 
over half the size of Canning Vale and at full 
development, the Park should provide around 
8,000 jobs.  To facilitate development, the 
ARA is administering a $55 million developer 
contribution scheme.

Champion Lakes continued to develop with 
the opening of the boat shed and the first 
release of the high quality residential land.  
The design of the Aboriginal Interpretive 
Centre was developed with the community 
and the adjacent public beach became a 
focal point for local residents during the 
warm summer days.

The Armadale City Centre saw the completion 
of the $70 million ING Shopping City 
development and the opening of the first 
stage of the $60 million Westzone Armadale 
Central retail development.  Kelmscott town 
centre saw most of the landscaping on 
Albany Highway completed.  While funds 
were made available in the State Budget to 
extend Gilwell Avenue, delays in achieving 
a land exchange with a developer delayed 
commencement of this part of the project.

The success of the Armadale revitalisation 
hinges on the strength of the support base.  
The Minister and the ARA Board continue 
to provide much appreciated guidance and 
support.  Staff remain committed to and, 
most importantly, enthusiastic about the 
rejuvenation of Armadale.  Other strong 
supporters of the project are the City of 
Armadale, LandCorp, private investors, 
community organisations and importantly the 
residents of Armadale.

The one area of consistency in each and every year of the ARA’s operations is the 
sense of accomplishment.  While the form of the successes varies from year to year, 
the common thread is the social and economic upgrade of Armadale.

2. EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS REPORT
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Forrestdale Business Park

•  Construction of major Developer 
Contribution Scheme works commenced 
with the appointment of Georgiou 
Contractors to construct the spine roads, 
drainage and sewer infrastructure.

•  Progress of four subdivision applications 
amounting to approximately 50% of the 
FBP area.

Champion Lakes

•  Contract awarded for the construction 
of the Champion Lakes Boating Club 
boatshed and clubrooms and the 
monitored pumping of excess water into 
the Wungong River.

West of Rail / Rail Precinct

•  Successful partnering with the Water 
Corporation to coordinate the laying of 
1400mm water main down Green Avenue 
and subsequent reinstatement of road 
works to ARA requirements following 
resumptions of land for major realignments 
of Green Avenue.

Social and Economic Development

•  Following extensive community 
consultation the design for the Aboriginal 
Interpretive Centre was awarded to 
architects Gresley Abas.

•  The NAIDOC Week Moorjditch Mar-Daa  
Art Exhibition was held for the third year 
and attracted a 45% increase in art  
work for display.

Statutory Planning

•  Total value of Development Approvals - 
$390,962,766.

Awards

•  The Armadale Redevelopment Authority 
was awarded the Planning Institute 
of Australia President’s Award for the 
Wungong Urban Water Project.

Champion Lakes Regatta Centre

•  The Dragon Boat National Championships 
were held at the Centre in April 2008.

•  Establishment of Champion Lakes  
Boating Club covering rowing, canoeing  
and dragon boating.

•  Site bookings building to a peak of 70 
activities in the month of May.

Wungong Urban Water Project 

•  Planning Institute of Australia Awards: 
Planning Excellence and Presidents Award.

•  Commonwealth/State funding agreements 
- $12.4M through the Water Smart 
Australia program established in addition 
to a further $6.8M of State funds for the 
Developer Contribution Scheme.

•  Five Structure Plan submissions lodged by 
developers initiate subdivision applications.

Kelmscott

•  Additional funding of $2.0M allocated for 
Gilwell Avenue in Kelmscott.

We are pleased to present our sixth Annual Report for the Armadale Redevelopment Authority.

In the last twelve months the ARA has experienced a significant transition in its business 
directions and operations. This transitory phase of moving from planning to implementation  
is expected to continue into the next twelve months and the ARA will continue to modify  
and expand its functions in response to a range of challenging environmental factors.  
Following five years of planning 2007/08 was a year of intense corporate activity with  
a number of projects coming to fruition.

Highlights for the 2007-2008 financial year include:

3. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

4



Sustainability

A mandate for sustainable environmental 
management is central to the vision for 
Armadale and complements a strong 
focus on economic and social outcomes.  
Such best practice is not confined to land 
development but extends to the next levels 
of energy efficient built form and occupier 
awareness.  This is complemented by a 
resilient community, supporting the social 
and economic well being of existing and 
future residents.

Capturing the rising awareness of the 
environment and social responsibility, 
Armadale is set to showcase the next 
generation of urban development.

The Wungong Urban Water Master Plan is 
a national demonstration area for urban 
water management and, with the support 
of the CSIRO, is part of the Nation Healthy 
Country Flagship Program.  The project has 
the potential to demonstrate best practice 
through an urban development that will yield 
up to 16,000 lots housing 40,000 residents 
over a 15 year time frame.  The significance 
of this project is reflected by Commonwealth 
support through the Water Smart Australia 
program – the only urban area in Australia to 
attract such funding.

All project areas within the Armadale 
Redevelopment Authorities jurisdiction are 
guided by the Local Area Implementation 
Plans for Sustainability, ensuring all elements 
of the land development process maximise 
opportunity for best practice.  This is 
supported by a Sustainability Scorecard that 
raises the threshold for builders to employ 
water and energy efficient measures.

Social and Economic 
Development

•  Commenced Resilient  
Communities Project.

•  Awarded design to architects Gresley Abas  
for the Aboriginal Interpretive Centre.

•  Commenced planning for the Armadale 
Producers Market.

•  Reviewed role and purpose of the 
Community Reference Group.

•  Held NAIDOC Art Exhibition for the  
third year.

Stakeholders

The ARA maintains a productive working 
relationship with its key stakeholders by 
engaging a number of communication 
strategies including liaison, consultation, 
workshops, seminars and where appropriate 
partnering to achieve a successful outcome.

Key stakeholders during 2007-08 included:

• Landcorp,  
• City of Armadale,  
• Public Transport Authority,  
• Western Australian Planning Commission, 
• Local Chamber of Commerce and Industry,  
• Swan TAFE,  
• Indigenous community,  
• State Government Agencies,  
• property development industry; and  
• Community groups.

Board Membership

The Armadale Redevelopment Act 2001 
specifies that the Board should comprise 
six members appointed by the Minister for 
Planning and Infrastructure, of whom two 
must be Councillors nominated by the City 
of Armadale.  There were no changes to the 
Board’s membership during the year.

ARA Employees

ARA employees are primarily sourced 
through LandCorp as the ARA has no 
employment powers. 

Consultants with specific expertise are 
appointed to assist with projects including  
the Kelmscott District Centre, Wungong 
Urban Water, Forrestdale Business Park, 
Champion Lakes and the Aboriginal 
Interpretive Centre.
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Statement of Purpose

To realise the potential of Armadale as a 
diverse vibrant community – “the natural 
place to grow”.

Values

• Operate with integrity and equity.

•  Balance social, economic and environmental 
issues to achieve sustainable outcomes.

• Approach issues laterally and creatively.

•  Adapt a persistent but responsive approach 
to issues.

•  Engage and maintain communication  
with all stakeholders.

Strategic Objectives

On an annual basis the ARA undertakes a 
Business and Residents Survey, the outcome 
of which is used to formulate the annual 
review of the ARA Strategic Plan and corporate 
objectives. The ARA Board and all employees 
contribute in the preparation of the annual 
Business Plan. 

Strategic Objectives for 2007-2008 were:

•  To develop processes and guidelines  
which support the highest quality 
development outcomes;

•  To create a social environment which 
supports the well being of existing residents 
and is conducive to supporting new 
population growth and development;

•  To contribute towards developing a 
commercial business environment that 
encourages investment and underpins new 
employment opportunities in Armadale;

•  To develop systems and processes designed 
to improve environmental outcomes;

•  To ensure compliance with all statutory and 
regulatory requirements.

4.  WHAT THE ARMADALE REDEVELOPMENT 
AUTHORITY DOES
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REDEVELOPMENT AREAS

The Armadale redevelopment area 
comprises eight separate sites, each 
with strategic attributes that will 
contribute to Armadale’s future social 
and economic growth.  

5.  REPORT ON OPERATIONS
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City Centre

City Centre is an area formed by Armadale 
Road to the north, South Western Highway to 
the east, Fourth Road and Church Avenue to 
the south and the railway line to the west. It 
also includes some land on the western side 
of the railway near the new station bounded by 
Forrest Road, Fifth Road and Green Avenue. 

The redevelopment aims to make the city 
centre more vibrant and efficient by:

•  Encouraging innovative urban design and 
attractive buildings; 

• Enhanced parks and gardens; 

• Providing better access and traffic flow; 

• Increasing overall performance and service 
to the community; 

• Improving amenity, safety and security; 

•  Creating inner-city residential 
neighbourhoods with pedestrian friendly 
street networks; 

• Improving Public Transport Access; and 

•  Providing an enhanced range of retail and 
commercial services commensurate with 
its function as a strategic Regional Centre. 

Forrestdale Business Park

Forrestdale Business Park is an area of about 
330 hectares straddling the Tonkin Highway 
and bounded by Ranford Road in the north 
and Armadale Road to the south.

It will be developed as a contemporary, 
efficient and highly functional industrial 
business park, characterised by excellent 
exposure and access to the primary regional 
road network and high quality industrial 
buildings. Simple but effective coordinated 
design and landscaping of public areas will 
ensure high presentation standards. 

Works on creating the park have commenced 
with contractors on site installing the two 
major spine roads, drainage systems and 
sewer services which can be extended 
through the park.

Provision of this infrastructure will enable 
landowners to proceed to subdivide their land 
for industrial uses.

Development of the park recognises its  
high water table and proximity to Southern 
River.  Drainage design will use exiting 
groundwater flows to distribute rain events 
through natural processes.

The business park will be a major new focus 
of economic and employment activity for the 
region, with the potential to generate up to 
8,000 new jobs.

In 2007-2008 around 140 hectares  
west of Tonkin Highway was added to the 
Forrestdale Business Park, expanding the 
area to a gross size in the order of 330 
hectares.  Structure planning of this new  
area will commence in 2008/09.

Armadale City Centre Concept Plan

Notes

2. Traffic signals at the Armadale Road and Railway Avenue intersection with a new road
connection leading to Forrest Road

3. Extension and enhancement of Minnawarra Park
4. Mixed-use development to create a ‘gateway’ feature and civic presence to the park
5. Indicative structure for future redevelopment or enhancement of the civic precinct 
6. New road connection to Armadale Road
7. Connection of Abbey Road to Green Avenue to create a western city centre perimeter

road
8. Consolidation of land to the west of Jull Street to create a new retail and mixed-use

development opportunity
9. Rationalisation of Memorial Park to create enhanced edge conditions and natural

surveillance
10. New cinema complex
11. New street connection between Jull Street and Church Avenue
12. Restoration of two-way traffic to that part of Third Road between Jull Street and Forrest

Road, and that part of Jull Street between Orchard Avenue and Third Road 
13. New pocket park at the end of Third Road
14. Expansion of Armadale Shopping City

16. Extension of Devonshire Terrace towards the station
17. Potential residential development with commercial uses on Forrest Road and mixed

uses on Green Avenue
18. Relocated station, new civic forecourt and public square
19. Enhancement of the Fourth Road streetscape to create a strong civic identity between

the city centre and South Western Highway
20. Development opportunities on the existing railway land
21. Realignment of Church Avenue to create a suitable site for office/commercial

development
22. Business courts with common car-parking areas, utilising existing buildings where

appropriate
23. Re-use of school for residential/commercial purposes
24. Reprioritisation of traffic around the Church Avenue railway crossing to improve the

legibility of traffic flow into the city centre
25. Improvement to the South Western Highway and William Street intersection to establish

a prominent point of arrival to the city centre

Legend: Indicative land uses

Single lot residential
Medium density residential
Mixed-use development
Core retail
Bulky goods retail
Commercial
Community and institutional uses
ARA Boundary
Possible area for inclusion
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Champion Lakes

A 136 hectare site about four kilometres 
north-west of the city centre. The 
redevelopment area is long and narrow, 
bordered by the extension of Tonkin Highway 
to the north-west, Lake View Terrace to the 
north-east, Lake Road to the south-east 
and the extension of Champion Drive to the 
south-west. 

Commercial Precinct

Approval was given in the State 2007/08 
Budget for $4 Million in loan funds to 
commence subdivision of the commercial 
precinct. A subdivision plan has been 
prepared and peer reviewed. Detailed 
engineering design has been completed 
to allow the referral of the subdivision 
application to the City of Armadale and the 
Western Australian Planning Commission.

Residential Precinct

The first stage of the LandCorp residential 
development was released in May 2008. 
Eleven of the 58 lots were available for sale to 
the public. The remainder have been allocated 
to builders. Initial interest was encouraging.

Regatta Centre Precinct

Champion Lakes Regatta Centre was 
opened for sport specific activity and 
recreational use in May 2007. The facility 
has seen a steady increase in organised 

activity through the 2007/08 period 
culminating with 70 bookings in May 2008. 
The activities range from education sessions 
in canoeing to dragon boating, kayaking 
and rowing training and competitions. Radio 
controlled sailing and outriggers have also 
conducted events. The most significant 
event held during the period was the Dragon 
Boat National Championships. More than 
660 competitors representing 18 teams 
from clubs throughout Australia competed 
for four days in April. The event was a huge 
success and bodes well for the promotion of 
Dragon Boating in Western Australia. 

April saw the Champion Lakes Boating Club 
(CLBC) incorporated. This independent entity 
will be the tenant occupying the Boat Shed 
and will be the primary user of the soon to 
be completed Club House. CLBC will offer 
training and competition opportunities to 
local people in Dragon Boating, Kayaking and 
Rowing. Included in the structure of the CLBC 
will be the ‘Friends of Champion Lakes’. The 
‘Friends’ will be a group within the club for 
local residents to participate in a range of 
active and passive activities. Walking, cycling, 
taking an interest in the environmental issues 
affecting the lake and possibly assisting with 
the running of events are within the scope of 
opportunities for the ‘Friends’. 

November’s warm weather saw a significant 
change in the use of the lake as local 
residents flocked to ‘Armadale Beach’. 

This provided management with an 
opportunity to see how the lake would 
be utilised and could be improved. In 
conjunction with Royal Life Saving Society 
of WA the ARA is implementing several 
strategies to ensure safe and enjoyable use 
of the public recreational facilities. 

Construction on the Boat Storage Shed was 
completed in May with an official opening 
held on May 10th. 

Aboriginal Interpretive Centre Precinct

Construction of an Aboriginal Interpretive 
Centre (AIC) at Champion Lakes began 
in early June 2008.  The facility is being 
constructed to recognise the strong 
traditional presence of the Nyoongar people 
in the region. 

The involvement of local indigenous people 
in the construction phase and in creating 
the artworks associated with the Centre will 
create an enduring sense of ownership and 
pride in the community.

Selected artists will work within the 
framework of the Artists Group with support 
from the Indigenous Reference Group, the 
ARA and Gresley Abas architects backed by a 
strong specialist consultant team.  Specialist 
consultants include lighting and sound 
engineers, art consultants and experienced 
artists with strong backgrounds in materials 
and fabrication.
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Champion Drive 

A new residential neighbourhood 
characterised by a range of opportunities 
and housing styles supported by the ARA 
sustainability guidelines. 

The first stage of the project by LandCorp is 
almost fully sold.

The ARA in conjunction with LandCorp is 
encouraging builders to promote energy 
efficiency in design, orientation, and use of 
alternative materials and building techniques. 
A display village showcasing homes using 
innovative building materials and construction 
techniques was commenced in early 2008.

Kelmscott 
 Redevelopment Area 
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Kelmscott

The western portion of the Kelmscott 
town centre was included in the Armadale 
Redevelopment area in January 2005. The 
13.7 hectare site comprises lots in both public 
and private ownership and is bounded by 
Albany Highway, Davis Road, Railway Avenue 
and the rail line north to Westfield Road. 

A concept plan, scheme amendment, cultural 
and heritage strategy and design guidelines 
were all finalised in 2006, providing a 
redevelopment framework. Redevelopment 
aims to better connect east and west 
Kelmscott via a grade separated rail crossing 
at Davis Road, extension of Gilwell Avenue 
and upgrade public and private facilities. 

Improvements to public facilities include the 
Kelmscott station upgrade which commenced 
in 2008 and landscaping works on Albany 
Highway were substantially completed by 
June 2008. Private sector improvements 
include development approval for a significant 
new retail and commercial development 
within the precinct.
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Wungong Urban Water 
(formerly Brookdale)

The Wungong Urban Water Master Plan is an 
innovative response to achieving viable urban 
development in a highly water sensitive area.

The visionary project will ultimately provide 
an enviable living environment for over 
40,000 people, making it Western Australia’s 
largest Master Planned area.  The plan 
envisages a diverse and vibrant 1580 
hectare residential area that showcases best 
practice in sustainable urban development 
incorporating natural resource management, 
water sensitive urban design and energy-
efficient housing.

Recognised by industry peers, the Wungong 
Urban Water Master Plan received the PIA 

(WA) 2007 Award for Planning Excellence 
in the category ‘Environmental Protection or 
Conservation’ and the Planning Institute of 
Australia (WA) 2007 Presidents Award.

Emerging as a national demonstration water 
sensitive urban design project, the initiatives 
have attracted funding from the Australian 
Government Water Smart Australia fund 
for activities assisting in implementing the 
Intergovernmental Agreement on a National 
Water Initiative.

The State Government’s support to this 
initiative has seen a $12.5M commitment,  
to progress the implementation of key  
water initiatives.  
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South Armadale

The South Armadale site has the potential for 
a modern, efficient business and employment 
node characterised by innovative urban 
design, landscaping and water sensitive 
design principles. Development hinges on 
future operational planning of Austral Bricks, 
the major landowner.

Albany Highway Precinct 
(CALM site)

The Albany Highway precinct is about two 
hectares in area and is two kilometres north 
of the Armadale City Centre. 

Before being vacated, the precinct was 
the south-west headquarters of the former 
Department of Conservation and Land 
Management (CALM).  The precinct is located 
to the south of the Armadale Health Centre and 
Armadale-Kelmscott District Memorial Hospital. 

The CALM precinct is a key site for the 
expansion of the hospital and accordingly the 
site has been included in the master planning 
of the future hospital extensions. The site has 
been acquired by the Department of Health 
for its expansion. 

SOCIAL AND  
ECONOMIC PROJECTS

The ARA is the only Redevelopment Authority 
that has a statutory requirement to enhance 
the social and economic development of the 
areas over which it has jurisdiction. The ARA 
frequently partners with other organisations 
to achieve social and economic outcomes. 
Two major projects for 2007/08 were:

NAIDOC Week Moorditch  
Mar-Daa Art Award

The NAIDOC Week Moorditch Mar-Daa Art 
Award was held in the former St Francis 
Xavier Church in Armadale from the 7th to 
15th July 2007, 88 entries were received this 
year down slightly from the 94 received in 
2006. The event was very successful with the 
number of people viewing the exhibition up 
from 2006. The new category of Best Local 
Artists was awarded this year; in addition 
to the Overall winner. Sales at the exhibition 
also increased in 2007. Media Coverage of 
the exhibition gained it enormous attention 
from visitors across the metropolitan area.

Armadale Producers Market

The ARA secured a grant of $50,000 from 
the South Metropolitan Public Health Unit 
towards establishing a Farmer’s Market in 
Armadale. Additional funds were contributed 
by the ARA and the City of Armadale. A 
Producers workshop was held in May 2008 
as a consequence fourteen producers 
have registered for a stall at the market. A 
Producers Audit was conducted to identify 

possible stall holders and a working group 
comprising of representatives from the 
CoA, ARA and the South Metropolitan 
Public Health Services Unit was established 
to develop the budget and progress the 
Farmers Market Project. The ARA prepared 
a draft constitution and Stall holder Rules, 
Regulations and Obligations. The market will 
be managed by a not for profit incorporated 
organisation to be established in 2008/09.

Business and  
Residents Survey

Since 2002 the Armadale Redevelopment 
Authority has conducted an annual 
community and business survey to measure 
the following research objectives:

•  Measure community / stakeholder 
optimism and satisfaction;

•  Ascertain business and community 
awareness of the ARA;

•  Determine business and community 
awareness of the works in the Armadale 
region that are carried out by the ARA.

The results of the survey are used to inform 
the strategic and business planning process 
and the annual key performance indicators. 

12



Business Results

Table 1. (below) provides an illustration of how Armadale’s performance of these measures has changed overtime, by comparing the average 
(mean) rating of each measure over time, as developments have taken place.

Table 1 - Rating of Armadale over time

Comparing the findings of 2007 to those of previous years show encouraging results for the efforts of the ARA, in that the average rating of 
each measure has increased since the previous year (2006), indicating that the Armadale area is now perceived to be performing better in 
comparison to other areas that it was in the past.

The largest increase in average rating refers to the number of job opportunities for people within the Armadale area, increasing from an average 
rating of 3.1 out of 5 in 2006, to 3.7 out of 5 in the current survey.

In considering Table 1 the dramatic improvement over the last 2 years in terms of the area’s “level of private investment in Armadale in the 
last year...” also becomes apparent.  In 2005, the average rating on this measure emerged at just 3.2 out of 5.  In 2006 this average rating 
increased to an impressive 3.6 out of 5.  2007 once again shows an improvement to an average rating of 4.0 out of 5. This indicates a 
successful shift from a perceived “average” performance (in 2005) to “moderate” performance in 2007.  

The variety of shping currently available within the Armadale area

The number of job opportunities for people within the armadale area

The number of new businesses starting up in the Armadale area, over the last year
The level of government support to help new and existing businesses in Armadale

The level of private investment in Armadale in the last year to boost the local economy - i.e. create jobs, bring in dollars

The support networks for local Armadale businesses to get together and identify new opportunities
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Table 2 (below) illustrates that two thirds 
(67%) of local business believe the ARA 
is effectively assisting with the social 
development of the area.  Just 18% of local 
businesses disagree with this premise.

Table 2 - Assisting to achieve social 
development in the area

Slightly agree 35%

Mixed feelings 15%

Slightly disagree 10%

Strongly disagree 8%

Strongly agree 32%

No, would not like the work of the 
ARA to continue into the future 1%

Yes, would like to see the work of 
the ARA to continue into the future 91%

Need more info 8%

Table 3 (below) illustrates that the vast 
majority (91%) of local businesses would 
like to see the work of the ARA continue into 
the future.  1% of local businesses would 
not.  The residual (8%) claim that they would 
require further information before they were 
able to decide whether they believe the ARA 
should continue.

Table 3 - Work of the ARA in the future
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Resident Survey

Table 4 (below) illustrates that 78% of the community were aware of the ARA in 2007 which is 14% improvement since the first survey was 
conducted in 2002.

Table 4 -  Awareness of the ARA over time
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6. SUSTAINABILITY
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Planning for Climate Change

The Wungong Urban Water Redevelopment 
project is being planned and designed to 
respond to a drying climate and to address 
greenhouse gas emissions by making homes, 
buildings, infrastructure and transport within 
the estate more efficient.  The project is one 
of the CSIRO’s two national demonstration 
estates for urban water management and 
has a design target of over 75% reduction in 
drinking water use per household.

Sustainability Audit

The ARA implemented its Sustainability Audit 
in May 2005, the first of its kind in Western 
Australia. The Audit is an online assessment 
tool integrated with the Development 
Application process and forms the basis 
for assessing the sustainability of proposed 
developments in the ARA redevelopment 
areas. The audit software tailors the various 
sustainability indicators to the type of 
development and its location.  The Audit is 
constantly upgraded and revised to meet new 
initiatives. In 2006 the ARA made a number 
of amendments to the Audit in respect to 
new land releases at Seville Grove within the 
Champion Drive Precinct.  These are as follows;

•  The Champion Drive precinct will be in  
the first housing estate in WA to require  
the mandatory installation of rainwater 
tanks as a condition of planning approval. 

All single and multi residential dwellings will 
be required to install a minimum 2,500 litre 
rainwater tank plumbed to toilets and cold 
water washing machine outlets;

•  All dwellings shall achieve a five star 
energy rating and demonstrate 50 per cent 
use of native plants in the garden; and

• Grey water systems will be encouraged.

Cost / Benefit Analysis

The ARA assesses the costs and benefits 
of various sustainability initiatives before 
they are implemented. In 2006 a detailed 
analysis of the use of rainwater tanks 
plumbed to service the toilet and laundry was 
undertaken. This analysis showed that a 24% 
saving in drinkable water could be achieved 
with only a relatively small additional initial 
cost impost. 

A similar analysis of the costs and 
benefits entailed in increasing the existing 
requirement for energy efficiency from 5 
stars to a 6 star rating was initiated before 
being considered for implementation in the 
sustainability audit.

Local Area Implementation Plans for 
Sustainability (LAIPS)

The ARA has adopted residential design 
guidelines and subdivision guidelines for 
Champion Drive, West of Rail Precinct 
and Forrestdale Business Park. The 
plans establish a clear set of sustainable 

outcomes and determine the best means 
of project delivery for subdivision and 
structure planning.  They support the 
objectives of the State Government’s 
‘Liveable Neighbourhoods’ initiative and 
ensure a coordinated approach to built form, 
streetscape and building orientation.  The 
plans ensure the ARA estates will promote 
best practice sustainability principles in 
subdivision, structure planning and integrated 
building efficiency guidelines.

Sustainability  
Procurement Initiatives  

The ARA has conducted and managed all 
its purchasing and contracting activities in 
accordance with State Supply Commission 
Policies and the Government’s Buy Local Policy. 

In accordance with its Sustainability 
Action Plan, the ARA has initiated a waste 
management and office recycling policy. It 
has adopted procurement initiatives which 
promote indigenous employment and 
training, support regional suppliers and 
the use of re-cycled products wherever 
practicable. In 2006 the ARA completed the 
conversion of all its fleet vehicles to four 
cylinder models.
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Place Codes – Wungong 
Urban Water Project

In 2008, consultation with builders and 
developers fine tuned the innovative Place 
Code planning system for Wungong. 
Place Codes are a method of regulating 
development to achieve a specific type of 
place (i.e. rural, urban or suburban). Control 
is focussed on the physical form, with less 
emphasis on land use.

The system is based on the ‘Smart Code’ 
concept which had been developed in the 
United States the previous year. Smart Codes 
are comprised of a series of ‘transects’ 
which are geographical cross-sections of a 
planning area which define a sequence of 
environments. These cross-sections are used 
to describe a series of different environments 

ranging from rural to urban in character.

The Wungong Urban Water Place Codes will 
be the first such planning provisions to be 
introduced in Western Australia. They are 
being developed with in put from relevant 
professional bodies and industry groups to 
address the problems of suburban sprawl 
typified by -

•  Isolated pods of single uses inaccessible 
from each other except by car.

•  Car dominated landscape – traffic 
engineering dictates the form and scale of 
the public domain.

•  Public Open Space has low amenity and is 
often provided as a buffer.

•  Inappropriate building types – unable 
to create a sense of place, or adapt to 
changing needs & environment.

Passive solar design principles are included 
within the Place Codes to encourage future 
dwellings which are both comfortable and 
efficient places to live and which address 
impacts of climate change.



7.  CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND 
CORPORATE PERFORMANCE

The functions of the ARA as described in  
the Act are as follows:

Planning and Development 
Control

(a)  to plan, undertake, promote and 
coordinate the development and 
redevelopment of land in the 
redevelopment area; and

(b)  for that purpose —

(i)  under Part 4, to prepare and keep 
under review a redevelopment scheme 
for that area; and

(ii)  under Part 5, to control developments 
in that area.

Economic and Social 
Development

(a)  to identify opportunities for  
investment in Armadale and to  
encourage that investment;

(b)  to identify opportunities for the provision 
of facilities and programmes to support 
and enhance community life in Armadale, 
and to encourage the provision of those 
facilities and programmes;

(c)  to facilitate and encourage the provision  
of diversified employment opportunities  
in Armadale;

(d)  to identify infrastructure services 
necessary to promote economic and 
social development in Armadale, and to 
encourage the provision of those services;

(e)  to facilitate coordination between  
relevant statutory bodies and State 
government agencies for the purpose 
of promoting economic and social 
development in Armadale;

(f)  to provide information and advice for  
the purpose of promoting economic and 
social development in Armadale; and

(g)  generally to take steps to encourage, 
promote, facilitate and monitor economic 
and social development in Armadale.

Ministerial Direction

The Minister for Planning and Infrastructure, 
the Hon Alannah MacTiernan MLA, is 
responsible for the Armadale Redevelopment 
Authority Act 2001. The ARA’s enabling 
legislation requires that if the Minister gives 
a direction to Authority, it shall be in writing 
and tabled in Parliament. There were no 
Ministerial directions during the 2007-2008 
financial year.

Financial Results

The ARA achieved its financial objectives for 
the 2007-2008 financial year by ensuring 
value for money outcomes were achieved 
across all operational and capital projects.

Membership of the Board

The Armadale Redevelopment Act 2001 
specifies that the Board should comprise 
six members appointed by the Minister for 

Planning and Infrastructure, of whom two 
must be Councillors nominated by the City 
of Armadale.  Criteria for the appointment of 
members in accordance with sections 7 and 
8 of the Armadale Redevelopment Authority 
Act 2001 are:

a)  Four persons who in the opinion of the 
Minister have a relevant qualification;

b)  Two persons who are members of the 
Council of the City of Armadale nominated 
by that Council;

c)  Two members to then be appointed by 
the Minister as Chairperson and Deputy 
Chairperson of the Authority.

Mr Gerry Gauntlett (Chairperson), Ms Kay 
Hallahan AO Hon. D Litt (Curtin) (Deputy 
Chairperson), Ms Verity Allan, Dr Antonio 
(Tony) Buti, Cr Linton Reynolds AM, Cr 
Henry Zelones JP.

Sadly on the 16th June 2008 Verity Allan 
passed away after a short illness.

Back Row:  
Antonio (Tony) Buti; Henry Zelones; Linton Reynolds.

Front Row:  
Verity Allan; Gerry Gauntlett; Kay Hallahan.

The Armadale Redevelopment Authority (ARA) was established under  
the Armadale Redevelopment Act 2001 and is responsible to the  
Minister for Planning and Infrastructure.
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Board Remuneration

Board members are remunerated by the 
Minister on the recommendation of the 
Minister for Public Sector Management.

The remuneration arrangements as at 30 
June 2008 were as follows:

Position Amount

Chairperson $25,250

Deputy Chairperson $18,940

Member $12,650

Role of the Board

The Board is the ARA’s governing body and is 
charged with ensuring the ARA performs its 
functions in accordance with the provisions 
of the Armadale Redevelopment Act 2001 
and other laws governing the conduct of 
corporate entities.

The Board has a number of specific 
statutory responsibilities set out in the Act 
focussed around introducing and maintaining 
redevelopment schemes over all areas under 
its planning jurisdiction.

The provisions of the Financial Management 
Act 2006 also governed the ARA’s approach 
to financial administration, audit and 
management of its finances. The Board 
complied with all the statutory requirements 
set out in these Acts.

In addition to statutory responsibilities, the 
Board undertook strategic roles for the ARA 
which focused on:

• Business direction;

• Corporate standards;

• Policies and decision frameworks; and

• Advice to the Minister and Government.

Operationally, the Board also assisted the 
ARA’s management team with setting program 
and project strategies, analysing client needs, 
establishing minimum standards and best 
practice initiatives and oversight of delegation 
and decision-making processes.

Policies and Standing 
Procedures

Policies and Standing Procedures set the 
parameters for a number of processes that 
support the Board’s governance structures.

Conflict of Interest

New Board members declare any financial 
or pecuniary interest at their first meeting. 
The ARA has a standing protocol requiring a 
Board member to disclose an interest in any 
item on the agenda.

Disclosures are recorded in the minutes and 
a copy of the disclosure placed in the ARA’s 
Conflict of Interest Register.

When a conflict declaration is made, the 
Board may either allow the member to make 
a statement to the Board then leave the 
meeting room, or request the member to 
leave the room. 

A conflict of interest process also applies to 
ARA staff and contractors who are required 
to make conflict disclosures to the Executive 
Director, who in turn determines the course 
of required management action.

Access to Independent Advice

With the approval of the Chairperson, a 
Board member may seek independent legal 
advice on matters presented to the Board or 
a Board Committee.  The Board or Committee 
Chairperson is responsible for authorising 
ARA officers to pay the costs of obtaining the 
legal advice.Board Members Attendance

The Board met sixteen times in the financial year 2007-2008 
Meeting attendance for the period 1 July 2007 to 30 June 2008:

Board Member Board (including Special 
meetings) 16 Meetings

Audit and Risk Management 
Committee 3 Meetings

Planning and Development 
Control Committee 11 Meetings

Gerry Gauntlett 14 NA 8

Kay Hallahan 15 NA 11

Verity Allan 12 NA 8

Tony Buti 15 2 NA

*Linton Reynolds 12 3 NA

*Henry Zelones 15 1 NA

* Members nominated by the City of Armadale.
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Board Committees 

Two sub-committees to the Board, with 
delegated powers to make determinations 
on behalf of the Board or informed 
recommendations to the Board, met to 
deal with issues particular to the roles and 
responsibilities assigned to each committee. 

Audit and Risk Committee

The Board’s Audit and Risk Committee 
considers governance activities, internal and 
external audit investigations and reports, 
corporate compliance and risk management.  
The Audit and Risk Committee, in accordance 
with the approved three-year Strategic 
Internal Audit Plan, considered a number 
of reports relating to reviews undertaken to 
ensure appropriate controls and compliance.

Planning and Development Control 
Committee

The Board’s Planning and Development 
Control Committee facilitates the timely 
processing of development applications 
and oversees all statutory planning 
responsibilities.

Community Reference Group 

The Minister appointed a Community 
Reference Group (CRG) under Section 63 
of the Act to assist the ARA to obtain a 
broad range of community views on matters 
relating to the performance of its functions 
under the Act. The Community Reference 
Group is chaired by Dr Antonio Buti and 
meets bimonthly. The role and function of the 
Community Reference Group was reviewed in 
2007-2008 to ensure it was aligned with the 
strategic objectives identified by the Board.

Code of Conduct

The Board aimed to maintain a high level of 
leadership by setting high ethical standards, 
through practical strategies such as the 
ARA’s Code of Conduct, which applied to 
Board members and staff.  No breaches of 
the Code of Conduct were reported during 
the reporting period.

Directors’ Insurance

Section 15 of the Statutory Corporations 
(Liability of Directors) Act 1996 authorises 
the Minister to approve the ARA paying a 
Director’s insurance policy premium. Where 
the insurance policy is approved by the 
Minister, the Board members are required to 
contribute one per cent to the annual policy 
premium to obtain coverage, with the balance 
of the premium to be paid by the ARA.

Director Benefit or  
Related Transactions

No Director (or firm where a Director 
held a substantial interest) received or 
became entitled to a benefit other than the 
remuneration mentioned previously in  
this report.

Ministerial Advice and 
Approvals 

The Armadale Redevelopment Act prescribes 
a number of matters requiring an approval of 
the responsible Minister.  

Section 17 of the Act requires the ARA 
to obtain the Minister’s approval for 
any contract or arrangement where the 
consideration exceeds $1 million.  

Ministerial approvals are tabled in the 
Western Australian Parliament in accordance 
with the Act.

Four (4) approvals were tabled in Parliament 
during the reporting period.

The Board also provides advice to the 
Minister on various aspects of the ARA’s 
operations.

Organisational Structure 

The ARA management structure consists 
of an Executive comprising two Directors 
reporting to the Executive Director and two 
Business Managers and the Administration 
Manager. The Executive meets fortnightly to 
consider management issues. 

John Ellis – Executive Director

Shelley Pike – Director,  
Business Development and Marketing

Stuart Devenish – Director, 
Wungong Urban Water Project

Steve Wiencke – Business Manager 
Development

Jamie Douglas – Business Manager  
Planning Services

Jannette Davies - Administration Manager

In addition to the fortnightly executive 
meetings the Executive Director meets 
individually with the Directors and Business 
Managers on alternate fortnights.

Staff meetings with all employees are held 
on a fortnightly basis to share information 
and disseminate Board outcomes to ensure 
our people are kept abreast of relevant 
information and have the opportunity to 
contribute to the decision making process.
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Service Level Agreement

The ARA has a Service Level Agreement 
(SLA) with LandCorp to access resources in 
corporate services, finance and accounting, 
information technology, Human Resources 
and project management. The SLA is 
endorsed by both the ARA and Landcorp 
Boards and is reviewed annually.

This SLA enables the ARA to benefit from the 
existing operational services within LandCorp.

Compliance with other 
Legislation

The financial administration of the ARA 
has complied with the requirements of 
the Financial Management Act 2006 
and associated Treasurer’s Instructions.  
In 2007/08 the ARA complied with all 
appropriate legislation, including the 
following Acts:

• Aboriginal Heritage Act 1972;
•  Armadale Redevelopment Act 2001;
• Auditor General Act 2006; 
• Contaminated Sites Act 2003;
•  Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003;
•  Disability Services Act 1993; 
•  Equal Opportunity Act 1984; 
•  Financial Management Act 2006;
•  Freedom of Information Act 1992; 
•  Government Railways Act 1904;
•  Industrial Relations Act 1979; 
•  Minimum Conditions of  

Employment Act 1993; 
•  Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984; 
• Public Sector Management Act 1994; 
• Salaries and Allowances Act 1975; 
• State Records Act 2000; 
• State Supply Commission Act 1991; 
•  Worker’s compensation 

injury managment Act 1981

Marketing and Advertising

In compliance with section 175ZE of the 
Electoral Act 1907, the following expenditure 
was incurred during the year:

$

Market Research

Patterson Market Research 24,540

Media Advertising

Market Force 13,703

Marketing and Public Relations

Professional Public Relations 74,751

Compliance with Public 
Sector Standards and Ethical 

We confirm that, in accordance with section 
31 of the Public Sector Management Act 
1994, the Authority has complied with the 
Public Sector Standards and Code of Ethics 
and that procedures are in place to ensure 
such compliance. There were no breaches of 
Public Sector Standards in 2007-2008.

Recordkeeping

In accordance with the State Records 
Commission Standard 2, the ARA has 
complied with the State Records Act 2000. 
The ARA conducts a recordkeeping training 
program for new staff as part of an induction 
program that addresses employees’ roles 
and responsibilities in complying with the 
recordkeeping system. 

Disability Services

In accordance with Section 29(1) of the 
Disability Services Act 1993 the ARA has 
in place a Disability Access and Inclusion 
Plan that addresses the needs of people 
with disabilities in gaining access to and 
receiving service or information from the 
ARA.  The Disability Access and Inclusion 
Plan was extensively reviewed in 2007 and 
is available to the general public through the 
ARA website.

Corruption Prevention

Corruption prevention measures are dealt 
with as part of ARA’s Risk Management 
Framework and Code of Conduct. For 
example, risks associated with unauthorised 
access and disclosure of confidential 
information have been identified as part of 
ARA’s Risk Management processes and 
action has been taken to ensure suitable 
controls are in place.

Workers Compensation

No new workers compensation claims were 
made during the year.  There are no current 
or ongoing workers compensation claims.

Human Resource 
Management Standards

The ARA does not have employment powers 
and all staff are sourced through LandCorp.  
LandCorp has developed its own standards 
for Human Resource Management which 
covers the staff at the ARA and underpins 
all human resource-related activities. The 
new standards have regard to the principles 
set out in the Public Sector Management 
Act 1994 and have been lodged with the 
Commissioner for Public Sector Standards.

22



The Code of Conduct, which has adopted the 
public sector’s ethical principles, has been 
retained and applies to all people employed by 
the ARA including the Board, management and 
employees.  New employees are made aware 
of the Code at the time of orientation.  

The ARA ensures the principles in the code 
form part of, and are reflected in, everyday 
business activities in recognition of the value of 
ethical behaviour in the future of its business.

There were no reported breaches of the 
Code of Ethics or Code of Conduct during the 
reporting period.

Freedom of Information 

The ARA is subject to the Freedom of 
Information Act 1992. The Manager, Business 
Services (LandCorp) is the appointed 
Freedom of Information Coordinator and is 
the initial recipient of requests for information 
under the Act. There were no Freedom of 
Information requests in 2007/2008.

Occupational Safety  
and Health

ARA’s Commitment to OSH and Injury 
Management

The ARA, through a service level agreement 
with LandCorp, is committed to providing 
and promoting a safe workplace, plant and 
systems of work in accordance with the 
Occupational Safety and Health Act (1984). 
The ARA and LandCorp take a proactive 
approach to occupational safety and health, 
establishing clear goals and strategies to 
implement and monitor associated systems, 
responsibilities and prevention programs. 

In accordance with good practice and as far 
as practicable, the ARA will: 

a.  Consult and cooperate with employees, 
and their representatives, regarding 
occupational safety and health. 

b.  Ensure that the use, cleaning, 
maintenance, transportation and disposal 
of plant and substances is carried out 
in ways that minimise staff exposure to 
hazards. 

c.  Provide information, training and 
supervision to new and existing staff 
members to enable them to work in ways 
that minimise their exposure to hazards. 

d.  In situations where it is not practicable 
to avoid hazards, staff will be provided 
with adequate protective clothing and 
equipment, and instructed in its use. 

e.  Endeavour to review and improve 
its occupational safety and health 
performance by conducting regular 
reviews to ensure the effectiveness of the 
integration of safety and health into ARA’s 
business plans. 

OSH Consultation

The ARA has implemented a formal 
orientation process which encompasses OSH 
matters. All employees are provided with an 
overview of the ARA’s / LandCorp’s policy 
and procedures which outlines the ARA / 
LandCorp’s above commitment.

The ARA / LandCorp encourage all 
employees to discuss all OSH issues with the 
Human Resources Manager for consideration 
and remediation if required.

ARA / LandCorp’s Statement of Compliance 
to Injury Management

The ARA and LandCorp are committed to 
providing injury management support to all 
workers who sustain a work related injury 
or illness with a focus on safe and early 
return to meaningful work and in accordance 

with the Worker’s Compensation and Injury 
Management Act 1981.

2007/2008 Performance

Number of fatalities Nil

Lost time injury/diseases (LTI/D) 
incidence rate

Nil

Lost time injury severity rate Nil

Substantive Equality

The ARA is not a Department represented 
on the Strategic Management Council 
and does not currently have obligations 
under the Substantive Equality Framework.  
However, the office is committed to the 
objectives of the policy to eliminate systemic 
racial discrimination in the delivery of 
public services and promote sensitivity to 
the different needs of client groups. EEO 
initiatives contribute to the elimination of 
systemic racial discrimination in the delivery 
of services as well as promoting equal 
employment opportunity.

Annual Estimates

 2008/09 Estimates $’000 

 Cost of Services 7,288 

 Revenue From Ordinary 
Activities 

4,357 

 Net Cost of Services (2,931)

 Revenue from State 
Government 

1,720 

 Net Profit (1,211)
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Kay Hallahan 

DEPUTY CHAIRPERSON 
10 September 2008

Tony Buti

BOARD MEMBER 
10 September 2008

8.  CERTIFICATION OF  
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Armadale Redevelopment Authority Performance Indicators

We hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records,  
are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Armadale Redevelopment 
Authority’s performance, and fairly represent the performance of the Armadale 
Redevelopment Authority for the financial year ended 30 June 2008.



8.1 Auditor General’s Opinion
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Auditor General 

Page 1 of 2 

4th Floor Dumas House  2 Havelock Street  West Perth 6005  Western Australia  Tel: 08 9222 7500  Fax: 08 9322 5664 

INDEPENDENT AUDIT OPINION 

To the Parliament of Western Australia 

ARMADALE REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008 

I have audited the accounts, financial statements, controls and key performance indicators 
of the Armadale Redevelopment Authority. 

The financial statements comprise the Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2008, and the Income 
Statement, Statement of Changes in Equity and Cash Flow Statement for the year then 
ended, a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory Notes. 

The key performance indicators consist of key indicators of effectiveness and efficiency. 

Board’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators 
The Board is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
(including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and 
the key performance indicators. This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining 
internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
and key performance indicators that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; making accounting 
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances; and complying with the Financial 
Management Act 2006 and other relevant written law. 

Summary of my Role 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on 
the financial statements, controls and key performance indicators based on my audit. This 
was done by testing selected samples of the audit evidence. I believe that the audit evidence 
I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion. Further 
information on my audit approach is provided in my audit practice statement. Refer 
"http://www.audit.wa.gov.au/pubs/Audit-Practice-Statement.pdf". 

An audit does not guarantee that every amount and disclosure in the financial statements 
and key performance indicators is error free. The term “reasonable assurance” recognises 
that an audit does not examine all evidence and every transaction. However, my audit 
procedures should identify errors or omissions significant enough to adversely affect the 
decisions of users of the financial statements and key performance indicators. 
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8.1 Auditor General’s Opinion (cont’d)

Armadale Redevelopment Authority 
Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators for the year ended 30 June 2008 

Audit Opinion 
In my opinion, 

(i) the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly the 
financial position of the Armadale Redevelopment Authority at 30 June 2008 and 
its financial performance and cash flows for the year ended on that date. They are 
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian 
Accounting Interpretations) and the Treasurer’s Instructions;  

(ii) the controls exercised by the Authority provide reasonable assurance that the 
receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of 
property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative 
provisions; and 

(iii) the key performance indicators of the Authority are relevant and appropriate to 
help users assess the Authority’s performance and fairly represent the indicated 
performance for the year ended 30 June 2008. 

COLIN MURPHY 
AUDITOR GENERAL 
15 September 2008 
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8.2  Key Performance 
Indicators

Armadale Redevelopment Authority 

Performance Indicators for the Year 
ended 30 June 2008

Effectiveness and efficiency key performance 
indicators have been developed to reflect the 
core outcome of the Authority to facilitate 
enhanced economic and social development 
of Armadale.

The Government Goal most appropriate for 
the Armadale Redevelopment Authority is:

To enhance the quality of life and wellbeing 
of all people throughout Western Australia.

Note: Goal obtained from Department of the 
Premier and Cabinet “Better Planning: Better 
Services” – A Strategic Planning Framework 
for the Western Australian Public Sector – 
November 2003.

Effectiveness Indicators

The effectiveness indicators applied  
to measure the Armadale Redevelopment 
Authority’s performance in achieving  
the outcome are intended to reflect 
quantifiable measures based on survey 
results and hard data.

The Armadale Redevelopment Authority (ARA) 
conducts an annual survey (the 2008 Survey) 
of businesses and residents in the Armadale 
local government area based on the 2006 
Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) census 
population data of 50,000 people.

The survey sample is derived from random 
sampling of both residences and businesses 
within the City of Armadale through telephone 
interviews.

The 2008 survey was completed during  
26th June to the 10th July 2008.  

Residential - A total of 381 interviews were 
completed out of a total random sample of 
1413 residents from the Armadale area1 
- a response rate of 27%. The response 
rates are consideredstatistically significant. 
A sample of this size from the residential 
population of the Armadale area results in 
a maximum survey error of ±4.93% at the 
95% confidence level.  

Business - In addition, 330 interviews were 
completed out of a total random sample of 
453 businesses from the Armadale area – a 
response rate of 73%. The response rates 
are considered statistically significant.  Most 
business surveys struggle to achieve better 
than a 50% response rate. A sample of this 

size from the business population of  
the Armadale area results in a maximum 
survey error of ±4.97% at the 95% 
confidence level.
1 The “Armadale area” refers to the 
suburbs: Westfield, Kelmscott, Armadale, 
Brookdale, Wungong, Mt Nasura, Bedfordale, 
Roleystone, Karragullen, Forrestdale, Mt 
Richon, Champion Lakes, and Seville Grove.  
Respondents were informed of this at the 
start of the survey to ensure they considered 
the “Armadale area” in its entirety when 
answering the questions.

*standard error refers to the range that 
we can be 95% confident that the score 
falls into i.e. if the measurement is 80% 
, a standard error of +/- 5.00% would 
illustrate that we can be 95% confident 
that the true score for the population is 
between 75% and 85%.

Hard data is drawn from building  
licence applications to the City of  
Armadale and internal monitoring of  
development applications.

KEY EFFECTIVENESS INDICATOR 1:  VALUE OF BUILDING APPROVALS – (shows economic growth in terms of building investment).

2002/03 2003/04 2004/05 2005/06 2006/07 2007/08 Target

Residential 
Value

$24.7M $29.7M $46.5M $99.8M $162.8M $213.4M -

Variation 20.3% 56.6% 115% 63% 31% 40%

Non-
Residential 
Value

$26.2M $31.0M $26.7M $67.8M $85.9M $60.0M -

3 Year Moving 
Average

- - $41.8M $60.1M $71.2M -

Variation (a) - - - 44% 18% 15%
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(a)  The variation is based on a 3 year moving 
average with base year of 2004/05.

The 3 year moving average is a common 
form of dampening a moving series which is 
prone to spikes in investment patterns. Thus 
variations are based on an average of the 
past 3 years in a series and compared to the 
previous year’s 3 year average.

Source: City of Armadale.

In the residential segment, additional  
growth has occurred in terms of building 
material costs and higher value housing  
due to the increase in higher quality housing 
as more affluent home owners move into 
the Armadale area.

The target for annual increase in value 
of residential building approvals is set in 
consideration of population growth, changing 
profile of home buyers and allowance for 
growth starting from a statistically low 
base together with a current allowance for 
escalation in building costs to arrive at a 
projected target of 40%.

The 2007/08 growth of 31% for residential 
is, a significant reduction in the variation for 
the 2006/07 period of 63% reflecting cyclical 
downturn in the market and moves closer to 
the long term target of 40%.

In terms of non-residential growth, this 
sector has very uneven investment periods. 
In 2007/08 there were two retail projects 
underway, one of which has been completed 
with a combined value of $150M. This spurt 

in investment will distort the average annual 
growth figures which, is why a three year 
moving average is applied.

The 18% 2007/08 variation  
reflects the completion of the two  
large retail developments.

Result: These indicators show the relative level 
of investment in residential and non-residential 
sectors (employment / building investment). 
The results show growth is being achieved in 
spite of adverse market conditions.

While the data is drawn from an area 
greater than that under the direct planning 
jurisdiction of the ARA, it is postulated that 
the influence of the ARA affects activities 
within the Armadale local government area.

KEY EFFECTIVENESS INDICATOR 2: ASSESSMENT BY RESIDENTS AND BUSINESSES OF THE ARA’S CONTRIBUTION TO THE ECONOMIC 
AND SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT OF ARMADALE – (shows external acknowledgement of the ARA achieving its core outcomes).

2004/05 2005/06 2006/07 2007/08 Target

Residents Agree 60.8% 57% 66% 65% 60%

Businesses Agree 41.9% 55% 58% 59% 60%

Source: The 2008 Survey.

Result:  In 2008, 58% of residents had 
previously heard of the ARA. These 
respondents were asked to rate the extent 
to which they agree or disagree that the 
ARA is effectively assisting with the social 
development of the area. Respondents 
were asked to use a five point scale, where 
5 - “strongly agree”, 4 – “slightly agree”, 3 – 
“mixed feelings”, 2 – “slightly disagree” and 1 
“strongly disagree”.

A third (36%) “Strongly agreed” that the ARA 
effectively assists with the social development 
of the area, and a further third (29%) “Slightly 
agree”. This equates to a net agreement level 
of 65%; which is effectively the same figure as 
in the 2007 report.

In 2008, 80% of businesses in the area 
had previously heard of the ARA . These 
respondents were asked to rate the extent 
to which they agree or disagree that the ARA 
is effectively assisting businesses to achieve 
economic development in the area.  

20% of businesses aware of the ARA “strongly 
agreed” that ARA is effectively assisting 
businesses to achieve economic development 
in the area; a further 39% “slightly agreed” 
which results in a net agreement figure of 
59% for 2008, which is effectively the same 
as the 2007 figure (58%). 

The 2007/08 results for residents and 
businesses are within the target range and the 
variation is not considered to be significant. 
Importantly, the year on year trend is positive



KEY EFFECTIVENESS INDICATOR 4: DEVELOPMENT APPLICATIONS DETERMINED BY ARA –  
(shows facilitation of economic investment).

2004/05 2005/06 2006/07 2007/08 Target

Development 
Applications 
Determined

Number 20 58 83 140

Variation 190% 43% 69% 18%

Source: Armadale Redevelopment Authority.

This indicator is intended to measure growth 
in general development activity within 
the area under direct ARA planning and 
development jurisdiction.

The ARA Redevelopment Scheme was 
gazetted in May 2004 and accordingly 
2004/05 is the first full year in which 
applications determined were calculated.

As the planning scheme provisions are 
translated into on the ground activity, this 
indicator has increased significantly on the 
2004/05 figure of 20 applications. The target 
of 18% is seen as a long term average 
figure. In addition, 2005/06 was the first full 

year of operation of the Interim Brookdale 
Redevelopment Scheme which has accounted 
for a significant proportion of Development 
Applications during the 2006/07 year. The 
final Wungong Scheme, gazetted in early 
2008, is also likely to have a marked impact 
on residential applications in 2009/10 when 
full development can be anticipated to lock in. 

It is likely that once the newly planned ARA 
areas are underway in terms of subdivision 
and development, a more regular growth 
pattern will become evident.

The target is set on the basis of development 
activity doubling over the next 8 years as 

general growth occurs and more area is 
covered under the Redevelopment Scheme. 
However previous growth has been minimal. 
Therefore to more accurately reflect this 
fact, the target for the medium term is set at 
double the long term average annual growth 
rate of 9%.

As the target set is a long term target, the 
increase in activity from a low base overstates 
the real growth and thus explains the 
exceedence of the variation target. As the 
previous year base increases the variation 
should come closer to the target of 18% and 
thus avoid statistical distortion.

KEY EFFECTIVENESS INDICATOR 3: LEVEL OF BUSINESS ACTIVITY – (shows impact of ARA’s efforts to achieve economic 
outcomes for 2007/08).

2003/04 2004/05 2005/06 2006/07 2007/08 Target

Improvement in 
Business Activity 
over year

% of Businesses 55% 53% 52% 54% 41% 51%

Source: The 2008 Survey.

Result: In terms of the level of business activity, in 2008, 41% of businesses claimed that their business activity had “increased” in the last 
12 months.  About one in five (21%) felt their business activity had “remained the same”, and 35% indicated that their business activity had 
worsened. These findings are reflective of the general slow down in the Australian economy in the latter half of the year. Given the positive 
results from in Key Effectiveness Indicator 2, it is postulated these results could have been worse except for the activities of the ARA. 

The 2007/08 result is under target due to the impact of a nationwide economic downturn.
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Efficiency Indicators

The ARA’s efficiency can best be measured against the services provided, namely:

(A) Implementation of a redevelopment scheme that meets statutory requirements; 
(B) Facilitation of development through release of lots; and 
(C) Facilitation of construction of non-residential facilities and infrastructure.

KEY EFFICIENCY INDICATOR 1: AVERAGE TIME TO PROCESS DEVELOPMENT APPLICATIONS [Relates to Service (A)].

2003/04 2004/05 2005/06 2006/07 2007/08 Target

Development 
Applications

Number 
Determined

11 20 58 83 140

Average 
Processing Period

74.5 Days 55 Days 35 Days 32 Days 20 Days 60 Days

Proportion 
Exceeding  
60 Days

45% 35% 12% 11% 5%

(Note: Processing Period is period following formal acceptance of application net of any period when the application was returned to the 
applicant for classification or further information).

In 2007/08 improved procedures were introduced to improve the efficiency in processing development applications.

Note: The number of development applications determined is the actual number processed in the financial year, including those approved and 
refused. It excludes the applications which were not determined or cancelled.

Source:  Armadale Redevelopment Authority.

Result: This indicator shows an improvement in organisational efficiency in processing applications.

The target set is the statutory requirement for determination as stated in the Redevelopment Scheme.

KEY EFFICIENCY INDICATOR 2: COSTS PER DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION DETERMINED [Relates to Service (A)].

2004/05 2005/06 2006/07 2007/08 Target

Number of Development 
Applications Determined

20 58 83 140

Cost $2,122,000 $2,383,000 $3,139,834 $3,815,000

Cost per application $106,100 $41,086 $37,829 $27,250 $30,000

Source: Armadale Redevelopment Authority.

Note: Costs are based on annual total costs of services less cost of land sold and public infrastructure costs. 

Result: This indicator shows the improvement in efficiency in terms of cost per application. The target of $30,000 set is based on the evidence 
of the three years’ results. The 2007/08 cost is well under target and is an encouraging downward trend.



KEY EFFICIENCY INDICATOR 3: COSTS PER LOT GIVEN SUBDIVISION APPROVAL [Relates to Service (B)]. 

2004/05 2005/06 2006/07 2007/08 Target

Lots Given 
Subdivision Approval

Number 316 102 336 421

Costs $2,122,000 $2,383,000 $3,139,834 $3,815,000

Costs per lot $6,715 $23,363 $9,345 $9,062 $7,000

Source: Armadale Redevelopment Authority. 

Note: Costs are as explained in Indicator 2. 

Result: This shows operation costs in terms of new lot creations. The target of $7,000 is based on the 2004/05 result which is viewed as a 
realistic target as volumes increase. The year’s result shows the increase in processing efficiency as volume of applications improves.  The 
difference from the target is not significant.

KEY EFFICIENCY INDICATOR 4: COSTS RELATIVE TO VALUE OF NON RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT APPROVED BY ARA  
[Relates to Service (C)].

2004/05 2005/06 2006/07 2007/08 Target

Value of non 
Residential 
Development 
Approved

$51.145M $58.7M $21.4M $24.1M

Costs $2,122,000 $2,383,000 $3,139,834 $3,815,000

Cost per $’Million 
Development 
Approved

$41,490 $40,596 $146,721 $158,299 $100,000

Source: Armadale Redevelopment Authority. 

Note: Costs are as explained in Indicator 2.

Result: This indicator is designed to show planning staff efficiency in terms of value of non-residential development approved comprising 
commercial, industrial and government facilities and infrastructure against the agency cost of processing the approvals. A target of $100,000 
has been set to accommodate an expected greater volume of activity by achieving economies of scale. The target can be seen to sit between 
the earlier “lumpy” investments and the current ebb in investment.

Given the lumpy nature of non-residential development, this variable is prone to show impacts of “one off” investments occurring in 2004/05 
and 2005/06. 
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9. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



The accompanying financial statements of the Armadale Redevelopment Authority have been prepared in compliance with the provisions  
of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year  
ended 30 June 2008 and the financial position as at 30 June 2008.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included in the financial statements  
misleading or inaccurate.

Kay Hallahan 
DEPUTY CHAIRPERSON
10 September 2008

Tony Buti
BOARD MEMBER
10 September 2008

Frank Marra
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
10 September 2008
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9.  ARMADALE REDEvELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
 CERTIFICATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended 30 June 2008



 Note  2008   2007  
   $’000   $’000 

COST OF SERVICES 
Expenses

Employee benefits expense 6  1,261   797  
Supplies and services  7  1,691  1,918  
Depreciation expense 8  76  65  
Finance costs 9  427  120  
Accommodation expenses 10  156  86  
Cost of land sold 12  172  32,488  
Loss on disposal of non-current assets 16  -  9  
Other expenses 11  1,274  1,049 

Total cost of services   5,057  36,532 

INCOME 
Revenue

Land sales 12  1,707  24,307  
Interest revenue 13  1,121  849  
Commonwealth grants 14  619  -    
Other revenue 15  244  55 

Total revenue   3,691  25,211 

NET COST OF SERVICES   (1,366)  (11,321)

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 
Service appropriation   1,450   2,750  
Resources received free of charge   -  2 

Total income from State Government 17  1,450  2,752 

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD   84   (8,569)

The Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

ARMADALE REDEvELOPMENT AUTHORITY
INCOME STATEMENT
for the year ended 30 june 2008
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 Note  2008   2007 
   $’000   $’000 

ASSETS   
Current Assets   
Cash and cash equivalents 29  742  1,822 
Inventories 18  11,439  1,938 
Receivables 19  14,808  19,994 
Other current assets 20  32  25 

Total Current Assets   27,021  23,779 

Non-Current Assets
Inventories 18  6,224  3,961 
Property, plant and equipment 21  1,653  164 
Infrastructure 22  638  -   

Total Non-Current Assets   8,515  4,125 

TOTAL ASSETS   35,536  27,904 

Current Liabilities
Payables 24  692  615 
Provisions 25  6,709  16,058 
Other Liabilities 26  1,806  1,414 

Total Current Liabilities   9,207  18,087 

Non-Current Liabilities
Payables 24  11,498  1,364 
Borrowings 27  700  -   
Provisions 25  3,163  1,569 

Total Non-Current Liabilities   15,361  2,933 

TOTAL LIABILITIES   24,568   21,020 

NET ASSETS   10,968  6,884 

    
EQUITY
Contributed equity 28  23,100   19,100 
Accumulated surplus/(deficiency) 28  (12,132)  (12,216)

TOTAL EQUITY   10,968   6,884

The Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

ARMADALE REDEvELOPMENT AUTHORITY
BALANCE SHEET
as at 30 June 2008
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 Note  2008   2007  
   $’000   $’000 

Balance of Equity at start of period   6,884   4,853 

CONTRIBUTED EQUITY
Balance at start of period   19,100   8,500
Capital contribution   4,000   10,600 

Balance at end of period 28  23,100   19,100 

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS (RETAINED EARNINGS)
Balance at start of period   (12,216)  (3,647)
Surplus/(deficit) for the period   84   (8,569)

Balance at end of period 28  (12,132)  (12,216)

Balance of equity at end of period   10,968   6,884 

Total income and expense for the period   84   (8,569)

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

ARMADALE REDEvELOPMENT AUTHORITY
STATEMENT OF CHANgES IN EqUITY
for the year ended 30 June 2008
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 Note  2008   2007 
   $’000   $’000 

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT   
Service appropriation   1,450   2,750 
Capital contributions   4,000   10,600 

Net cash provided by State Government   5,450   13,350 

Utilised as follows:   

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES   
Payments    
Employee benefits   (1,206)  (742)
Supplies and services   (13,156)  (31,136)
GST payments on purchases   (550)  (1,896)
GST payments to taxation authority   (351)  (478)

Receipts
Sale of land   1,707   12,970 
Interest received   1,113   277 
Commowealth grants   619   -   
GST receipts on sales   195   637 
GST receipts from taxation authority   1,643   1,792 
Other receipts   4,959   7,541 

Net cash used in operating activities 29  (5,027)  (11,035)

    
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of non-current physical assets   (2,203)  (1,281)

Net cash used in investing activities   (2,203)  (1,281)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from borrowings   700   -   
Repayment of borrowings   -     -   

Net cash provided by financing activities   700   -   

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   (1,080)  1,034 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period   1,822   788 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF PERIOD 29  742   1,822

The Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

ARMADALE REDEvELOPMENT AUTHORITY
CASH FLOw STATEMENT
for the year ended 30 June 2008
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NOTE 1 AUSTRALIAN EqUIvALENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTINg STANDARDS

General 

The Authority’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2008 have been prepared in accordance with Australian equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS) which comprise a Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements 
(the Framework) and Accounting Standards (including Australian Accounting Interpretations).

In preparing these financial statements the Authority has adopted, where relevant to its operations, new and revised standards and Interpretations 
from their operative dates as issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and formerly the Urgent Issues group (UIg).

Early adoption of standards

The Authority cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard or Australian Accounting Interpretation unless specifically permitted by TI 
1101 ‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements’. No standards and Interpretations that have been issued or 
amended but are not yet effective have been early adopted by the Authority for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2008.

NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIgNIFICANT ACCOUNTINg POLICIES

Accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation of the financial statements.  Unless otherwise stated these policies are consistent with 
those adopted in the previous year.

a)  general Statement

  The financial statements constitute a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB as 
applied by the Treasurer’s Instructions. Several of these are modified by the Treasurer’s Instructions to vary application, disclosure, 
format and wording.

  The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer’s Instructions are legislative provisions governing the preparation of financial 
statements and take precedence over Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other 
authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.

  where modification is required and has a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of that modification 
and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

b) Basis of Preparation

 The statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention.

  The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied throughout all periods 
presented unless otherwise stated.

 The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).

ARMADALE REDEvELOPMENT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2008
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ARMADALE REDEvELOPMENT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2008

NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIgNIFICANT ACCOUNTINg POLICIES (CONT’D)

  The judgements that have been made in the process of applying the Authority’s accounting policies that have the most significant 
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements are disclosed at note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying 
accounting policies’.

  The key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date that have 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
disclosed at note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’.

c) Reporting Entity

 The reporting entity comprises the Authority.

d) Contributed Equity

  UIg Interpretation 1038 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities’ requires transfers in the nature of 
equity contributions to be designated by the government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) 
before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions.  Capital contributions (appropriations) have been designated as 
contributions by owners by Treasurer’s Instruction (TI) 955 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities’ 
and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity.

  Transfers of net assets to/from other agencies are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary 
and non-reciprocal. See note 28 ‘Equity’.

e) Income

 Revenue recognition 

  Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for the major business  
activities as follows:

 Sale of goods

  Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and rewards of ownership 
control pass to the purchaser and can be measured reliably.

 Interest

 Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.

 Rendering of services

 Revenue is recognised on delivery of the service to the client or by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction. 

 Service Appropriations

  Service appropriations are recognised as revenues at nominal value in the period in which the Authority gains control of the 
appropriated funds, which is at the time those funds are deposited to the bank account. 

  grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions

  Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Authority obtains control over the assets comprising the contributions,  
usually when cash is received.

  Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services are 
only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not donated.
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ARMADALE REDEvELOPMENT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2008

NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIgNIFICANT ACCOUNTINg POLICIES (CONT’D)

  where contributions recognised as revenues during the reporting period were obtained on the condition that they be expended in a 
particular manner or used over a particular period, and those conditions were undischarged as at the balance sheet date, the nature 
of, and the amounts pertaining to, those undischarged conditions are disclosed in the notes.

 gains

  gains may be realised or unrealised and are usually recognised on a net basis.  
These include gains arising on the disposal of non-current assets. 

f) Borrowing costs  

  Borrowing costs for qualifying assets are capitalised net of any investment income earned on the unexpended portion of the 
borrowings. Other borrowing expenses are expensed when incurred. 

g) Property, Plant and Equipment

 Capitalisation/Expensing of assets

  Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure costing over $1,000 are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising 
assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of property, plant and equipment costing less than $1,000 are 
immediately expensed direct to the Income Statement (other than where they form part of a group of similar items which are 
significant in total). 

 Initial recognition and measurement

  All items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure are initially recognised at cost. For items of property, plant and equipment 
acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.

 Subsequent measurement

  After recognition as an asset the cost model is used for all plant and equipment. Items of property plant and equipment are stated at 
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

 Depreciation 

  All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a manner that 
reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.  

  Depreciation on assets is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed annually.  Estimated useful lives 
for each class of depreciable asset are:

 Buildings     20 to 40 years 

 Infrastructure    60 to 80 years

 Furniture & Office Equipment  10 years

 Computer Equipment                3 to 4 years

 Leasehold Improvements   5 years

h) Impairment of Assets

  Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at each balance sheet date.  where 
there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated.  where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying 
amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised.  As 
the Authority is a not for profit entity, unless an asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of 
an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.
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NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIgNIFICANT ACCOUNTINg POLICIES (CONT’D)

  The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated or where the 
replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life.  Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to 
verify that the accumulated depreciation / amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of asset’s future economic benefits 
and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs.

  The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the present value of future 
cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair 
value is determined by reference to market- based evidence.

  The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the present value of future 
cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair value is 
determined by reference to market- based evidence. where fair value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus 
assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of impairments 
at each balance sheet date. As at balance sheet date, no assets were identified as surplus at the Authority. 

i) Leases

  The Authority holds operating leases for office premises and motor vehicles.  Lease payments are expensed on a straight line basis over 
the lease term as this represents the pattern of benefits derived from the leased property.

j) Financial Instruments

 The Authority has two categories of financial instrument:

	 •	Loans	and	receivables	(includes	cash	and	cash	equivalents);	and 
	 •	Financial	liabilities	measured	at	amortised	cost.	

 These have been disaggregated into the following classes:

 Financial Assets

	 	•	Cash	and	cash	equivalents 
•	Receivables

 Financial Liabilities

	 	•	Payables 
•	Other	liabilities

  Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the transaction cost or the face 
value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

  The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there is no interest rate applicable 
and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not material.

ARMADALE REDEvELOPMENT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2008
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ARMADALE REDEvELOPMENT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2008

NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIgNIFICANT ACCOUNTINg POLICIES (CONT’D)

k) Cash and Cash Equivalents

  For the purpose of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets comprise cash 
on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash 
and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.  

 l) Inventories

  Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Inventories include land acquired for development and costs 
incurred in bringing inventories to a saleable condition, including costs associated with design and development and other costs directly 
traceable to the development activities of the Authority.

  Inventories not held for resale are valued at cost unless they are no longer required, in which case they are valued at net realisable value.

 m) Receivables

  Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less any provision for uncollectable amounts (impairment). The 
collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectable are written off. The provision 
for uncollectable amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when collectability is no longer probable.  The carrying amount is equivalent to fair 
value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.  

n) Payables

  Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Authority becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase 
of assets or services.  The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as they are generally settled within 30 days.  

o) Accrued Salaries

  Accrued salaries represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial year, as the pay date for the last pay period for 
that financial year does not coincide with the end of the financial year. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the financial year 
end. The Authority considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its net fair value.

p) Provisions

  Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing and amount and are recognised where there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the amount of the obligation.  Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date.  

(i) Provisions - Employee Benefits

 Annual Leave and Long Service Leave

  The liability for annual and long service leave expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the balance sheet date is 
recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.  Annual and long service 
leave expected to be settled more than 12 months after the end of the balance sheet date is measured at the present value of amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 
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NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIgNIFICANT ACCOUNTINg POLICIES (CONT’D)

  Leave liabilities are in respect of services provided by employees up to the balance sheet date. when assessing expected future payments 
consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including non salary components such as employer superannuation 
contributions.  In addition, the long service leave liability also considers the experience of employee departures and periods of service.

  The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to 
maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

  All annual leave and unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Authority does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

 An actuarial assessment of long service leave was undertaken by PricewaterhouseCoopers Securities Ltd in 2007-08

 Superannuation 

 The Authority has no liabilities under the government Employees Superannuation Board (gESB) Pension or gold State Super Schemes.  

  Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the Pension or the gSS Schemes became 
non contributory members of the west State Superannuation Scheme (wSS). Employees commencing employment on or after 16 
April 2007 became members of the gESB Super Scheme (gESBS).  Both of these schemes are accumulation schemes.  The Authority 
makes concurrent contributions to gESB on behalf of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth government’s Superannuation 
guarantee (Administration) Act 1992.  These contributions extinguish the liability for superannuation charges in respect of the wSS 
and gESBS Schemes. See also note 2(t) ‘Superannuation expense’.

(ii) Provisions - Other

 Employment On Costs 

  Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised as separate liabilities 
and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred.  Employment on-costs are not included as part of the Authority’s 
‘Employee benefits expense’ and the related liability is included in Employment on-costs provision. 

 Future Development Obligations

  where the Authority has sold development rights of land under its control to external parties and provided an undertaking to carry out 
development projects, a provision has been raised to recognise the Authority’s future development obligations in respect of all such land 
sold or developed ready for sale. 

q) Borrowings

  All loans payable are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the net proceeds received.  Subsequent measurement is at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.  See note 2(j) ‘Financial Instruments’ and note 27 ‘Borrowings’.

r) Resources Received Free of Charge or for Nominal Cost

  Resources received free of charge or for nominal value that can be reliably measured are recognised as revenues and as assets or 
expenses as appropriate at fair value.
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NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIgNIFICANT ACCOUNTINg POLICIES (CONT’D)

s) Employee costs

  Although the Authority has no employment powers, it is staffed by officers seconded to it under a Service Level Agreement with the 
western Australian Land Authority.  Employee costs are charged on a monthly basis in accordance with the Agreement.

t) Superannuation

  All staff are eligible to become members of the Superannuation fund of their choice, complying with the Commonwealth government’s 
Explanatory Memorandum for the Superannuation Legislation Amendment (Choice of Superannuation Funds) Bill 2003.

 The following elements are included in calculating the superannuation expense in the Income Statement:

  (i) Defined contribution plans – Employer contributions paid to employee’s nominated superannuation fund, including gSS (concurrent 
contributions), the west State Superannuation Scheme, and the gESB Super Scheme (gESBS).

  The Authority’s superannuation expense does not include payment of pensions to retirees, as this does not constitute part of the cost of 
services provided in the current year.  

  The liability for charges under the chosen Superannuation scheme is extinguished by the payment of employer contributions  
to the schemes.

u) goods and Services Tax

  Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (gST), except:

 (i)   where the amount of gST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of 
an	asset	or	as	part	of	an	item	of	expense;	or

 (ii) for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of gST.

 The net amount of gST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables.

  The gST component of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority is classified as operating cash flows.

v) Comparative figures

  Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in the current financial year. Minor 
rounding adjustments have been made to the 2007 figures.

NOTE 3 JUDgEMENTS MADE BY MANAgEMENT IN APPLYINg ACCOUNTINg POLICIES

  The judgements that have been made in the process of applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements include:

  Operating lease commitments – the Authority has entered into a commercial lease and has determined that the lessor retains all the 
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the property. Accordingly, the lease has been classified as an operating lease.
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NOTE 3 JUDgEMENTS MADE BY MANAgEMENT IN APPLYINg ACCOUNTINg POLICIES (CONT’D)

Public infrastructure – capital expenditure undertaken by the Authority on land owned by the Crown or State, with future ownership to be 
transferred at nil or minimal cost to the Local Council, as part of the Authority’s mandate has been expensed.

NOTE 4 KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

 Capitalisation of development expenditure – development expenditure is capitalised with reference to the stage of completion of the project.

The key estimates and assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date that 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year include:

Future Development Obligations

The Authority assesses its obligations for future development costs at each balance sheet date.  where there is an indication of future development 
obligations, a provision for future development obligations is raised. Calculations performed in assessing future development obligations incorporate 
a number of key estimates.

NOTE 5 DISCLOSURE OF CHANgES IN ACCOUNTINg POLICY AND ESTIMATES

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard

The Authority has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards and Australian Accounting Interpretations effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2007:

 1.  AASB 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ (including consequential amendments in AASB 2005-10 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards [AASB 132, AASB 101, AASB 114, AASB 117, AASB 133, AASB 139, AASB 1, AASB 4, AASB 1023 & AASB 
1038]’).  This Standard requires new disclosures in relation to financial instruments and while there is no financial impact, the changes 
have resulted in increased disclosures, both quantitative and qualitative, of the Authority’s exposure to risks, including enhanced 
disclosure regarding components of the Authority’s financial position and performance, and changes to the way of presenting certain 
items in the notes to the financial statements.

 2.  AASB 2005-10 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (AASB 132, AASB 101, AASB 114, AASB 117, AASB 133, AASB 
139, AASB 1, AASB 4, AASB 1023, & AASB 1038)’. The amendments are as a result of the issue of AASB 7 ‘Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures’, which amends the financial instrument disclosure requirements in these standards.  The Authority does not expect any 
financial impact when the Standard is first applied.  The Standard is required to be applied to annual reporting periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2007.

 3.  AASB 101 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’.  This Standard was revised and issued in October 2006 so that AASB 101 has 
the same requirements as IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ (as issued by the IASB) in respect of for-profit entities.  The 
Authority is a not-for-profit entity and consequently does not expect any financial impact when the Standard is first applied.  The 
Standard is required to be applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007.

 4.  AASB 2007-4 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from ED 151 and Other Amendments (AASB 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 
7, 102, 107, 108, 110, 112, 114, 116, 117, 118, 119, 120, 121, 127, 128, 129, 130, 131, 132, 133, 134, 136, 137, 138, 139, 
141, 1023 & 1038)’.  This Standard introduces policy options and modifies disclosures.  These amendments arise as a result of the 
AASB decision that, in principle, all options that currently exist under IFRSs should be included in the Australian equivalents to IFRSs 
and additional Australian disclosures should be eliminated, other than those now considered particularly relevant in the Australian 
reporting environment.
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NOTE 5 DISCLOSURE OF CHANgES IN ACCOUNTINg POLICY AND ESTIMATES (CONT’D)

  The Department of Treasury and Finance has indicated that it will mandate to remove the policy options added by this amending 
Standard. This will result in no impact as a consequence of application of the Standard. 

 The Standard is required to be applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2007.

 5.  AASB 2007-5 ‘Amendment to Australian Accounting Standard – Inventories Held for Distribution by Not-for-Prof-
it Entities (AASB 102)’.  This amendment changes AASB 102 ‘Inventories’ so that inventories held for distribution 
by not-for-profit entities are measured at cost, adjusted when applicable for any loss of service potential.  The Author-
ity does not have any inventories held for distribution so does not expect any financial impact when the Standard 
is first applied.  The Standard is required to be applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2007. 

 The following Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations are not applicable to the Authority as they have no impact or do 
not apply to not for profit entities:

 AASB Standards and Interpretations:

 2007-1 ‘ Amendments to Australian Accounting Standard’  
(AASB 139 – Cash flow hedge accounting of forecast intragroup transactions)

 2007-1 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB Interpretation 11 [AASB 2’

 2007-7 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 1, AASB 2, AASB 4, AASB 5, AASB 107 & AASB 128]’

 ERR  Erratum ‘Proportionate Consolidation [AASB 101, AASB 107, AASB 121, AASB 127, Interpretation 113]’

 voluntary changes in Accounting Policy

 There have been no voluntary changes in Accounting Policy during the financial year.

 Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative

  The Authority cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard or Australian Accounting Interpretation unless specifically permitted 
by TI 1101 ‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements’.  Consequently, the Authority has not applied 
the following Australian Accounting Standards and Australian Accounting Interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective.  
These will be applied from their application date:

 1.  AASB 101 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ (September 2007).  This Standard has been revised and will change the structure of 
the financial statements.  These changes will require that owner changes in equity are presented separately from non-owner changes 
in equity.  The Authority does not expect any financial impact when the Standard is first applied. The Standard is required to be applied 
to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

 2.  Review of AAS 27 ‘Financial Reporting by Local governments’, 29 ‘Financial Reporting by government Departments’ and 31  
’Financial Reporting by governments’.  The AASB has made the following pronouncements from its short term review of AAS 27, 
 AAS 29 and AAS 31:

	 	 •	AASB	1004	‘Contributions’	(December	2007) 
	 	 •	AASB	1050	‘Administered	Items’	(December	2007) 
	 	 •	AASB	1051	’Land	Under	Roads’	(December	2007) 
	 	 •	AASB	1052	‘Disaggregated	Disclosures’	(December	2007) 
	 	 •		AASB	2007-9	‘Amendments	to	Australian	Accounting	Standards	arising	from	the	review	of	AASs	27,	29	and	31	[AASB	3,	AASB	5,	

AASB 8, AASB 101, AASB 114, AASB 116, AASB 127 & AASB 137] (December 2007)
	 	 •	Interpretation	1038	‘Contributions	by	Owners	Made	to	Wholly-Owned	Public	Sector	Entities	(revised)	(December	2007)
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NOTE 5 DISCLOSURE OF CHANgES IN ACCOUNTINg POLICY AND ESTIMATES (CONT’D)

  The existing requirements in AAS 27, AAS 29 and AAS 31 have been transferred  to the above new and existing topic-based Standards 
and Interpretation. These requirements remain substantively unchanged.  AASB 1050, AASB 1051 and AASB 1052 only apply to 
government departments. The other Standards and 

  Interpretation make some modifications to disclosures and provide additional guidance (for example, Australian guidance to AASB 116 
‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ in relation to heritage and cultural assets has been introduced), otherwise, there will be no financial impact.

 3.  AASB 123 ‘Borrowing Costs’ (June 2007).   This Standard has been revised to mandate the capitalisation of all borrowing costs 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets.  This standard is operative from 1 January 2009. 

     The following Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations are not applicable to the Authority as they will have no impact or 
do not apply to not for profit entities:

 AASB Standards and Interpretations:

	 •	AASB	1049	‘Whole	of	Government	and	General	Government	Sector	Financial	Reporting.

	 •		AASB	2007-2	‘Amendments	to	Australian	Accounting	Standards	arising	from	AASB	Interpretation	12	[AASB	1,	AASB	117,	AASB	118,	
AASB 120, AASB 121, AASB 127, AASB 131 & AASB 139]’ – paragraphs 1 to 8.

	 •		AASB	2007-3	‘Amendments	to	Australian	Accounting	Standards	arising	from	AASB	8	[AASB	5,	AASB	6,	AASB	102,	AASB	107,	AASB	
119, AASB 127, AASB 134, AASB 136, AASB 1023 & AASB 1038]’.

	 •		AASB	2007-6	‘Amendments	to	Australian	Accounting	Standards	arising	from	AASB	123	[AASB	1,	AASB	101,	AASB	107,	AASB	111,	
AASB 116 & AASB 138 and Interpretations 1 & 12]’.

	 •	AASB	2007-8	‘Amendments	to	Australian	Accounting	Standards	arising	from	AASB	101’.

Changes in accounting estimates

There were no changes in accounting estimates that have an effect in the current period or are expected to have an effect in future periods.
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   2008   2007 
   $’000   $’000 

Note 6  Employee benefits expense
Wages and salaries (a)   994   625 
Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b)   130   78 
Long service leave (c)   39   33 
Annual leave   98   61 

   1,261   797 

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component.
(b) Defined contribution plans include West State and Gold State (contributions paid).
(c)  Includes a superannuation contribution component

Employment on-costs such as workers’ compensation insurance are included at note 11 ‘Other Expenses’. 
The employment on- costs liability is included at note 25 ‘Provisions’

Note 7  Supplies and services 
Communications   15   13 
Consultants and contractors   1,032   1,218 
Consumables   42   32 
Estate marketing and maintenance   270   422 
Insurance   18   26 
Strategic marketing   121   152 
Travel   75   37 
Other   118   18 

   1,691   1,918 

Note 8  Depreciation expense
Depreciation
Buildings   -     -   
Infrastructure   -     -   
Furniture and office equipment   8   5 
Computer equipment   20   17 
Leasehold improvements   54   43 

   76   65 

Total depreciation    76   65 

       
Note 9  Finance costs

Interest expense (a)   427   120 

(a) Interest charged by LandCorp for development expenditure on Forrestdale Business Park and interest on acquisition of land at Champion Lakes.
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   2008   2007 
   $’000   $’000 

Note 10  Accommodation expenses
Lease rentals   100   59 
Cleaning   16   7 
Electricity   8   6 
Rates and taxes   19   9 
Other   13   5 

   156   86 

Note 11  Other expenses
Employment on-costs (a)   84   60 
Property Management Expenses   33   25 
Public Infrastructure   1,070   889 
Recruitment costs   64   59 
Audit fees (b)   23   16 

   1,274   1,049 

(a)  Includes workers’ compensation insurance and other employment on-costs. The on-costs liability associated with the recognition of 
annual and long service leave liability is included at note 25 ‘Provisions’. Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision  
for leave are employee benefits and are not included in employment on-costs.

(b) Audit fees, see also note 36 ‘Remuneration of auditor’.

Note 12  Trading Profit
Sales- Land   1,707   24,307 
Cost of Sales:
Opening inventory   (5,899)  (7,775)
Purchases   (11,936)  (30,612)
Closing inventory   17,663   5,899 

Total cost of sales   (172)  (32,487)

Trading Profit   1,535   (8,181) 

Note 13  Interest revenue

Interest revenue (a)   1,121   849 

(a) Interest revenue includes interest earned on bills of exchange and from banks.
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   2008   2007 
   $’000   $’000 

Note 14  Commonwealth grants

Commonwealth grants    619   -   

Commonwealth grants comprise a non-reciprocal grant of $619,000 received from Watersmart Australia in the current year in relation to the 
Brookdale project. The grant has been recognised in its entirety upon receipt as there are no conditions attached apart from how the grant is 
to be expended. As at 30 June 2008, $468,000 of the grant remained unspent.

Note 15  Other revenue
Sale of information   146   24 
Grants   50   -   
Rental Income   38   26 
Sundry income   10   5 

   244   55 

Grants revenue includes a non-reciprocal grant from the State Government Department of Sports and Recreation of $50,000 received in the 
current year for purposes of providing project specific training. The grant has been recognised in its entirety upon receipt as there are no 
conditions attached to it apart from how it is to be spent. As at 30 June 2008, the grant remained unspent.

Note 16  Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets
Costs of Disposal of Non-Current Assets

Office Equipment   -     (9)

Proceeds from Disposal of Non-Current Assets
Office Equipment   -     -   

Net gain/(loss)   -     (9)

Note 17  Income from State Government
Appropriation revenue received during the year:
Service appropriations   1,450   2,750 

Resources received free of charge (a)
Determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by agencies:
Department of Land Information   -     2 

   1,450   2,752 

(a)  Where assets or services have been received free of charge or for nominal cost, the Authority recognises revenues (except where the 
contributions of assets or services are in the nature of contributions by owners in which case the Authority shall make a direct adjustment 
to equity) equivalent to the fair value of the assets and/or the fair value of those services that can be reliably determined and which 
would have been purchased if not donated, and those fair values shall be recognised as assets or expenses, as applicable.

ARMADALE REDEvELOPMENT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2008

50



ARMADALE REDEvELOPMENT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2008

51

   2008   2007 
   $'000   $'000 

Note 18  Inventories
Current
Inventories held for resale:
- Developed land (at cost)   183   354 
- Work in progress (at cost)   11,256   1,584 

   11,439     1,938 

Non-current
Inventories held for resale:
- Undeveloped land (at cost)   2,644   2,224 
- Work in progress (at cost)   3,580   1,737 

   6,224   3,961 

The most recent valuations of inventories, which have not been recognised in the financial statements, were internal valuations at 30 June 
2008. Market value of land held at this date amounted to $17.836 million (2007: $11.811 million). The internal valuations have been determined 
taking into account advice form independent valuers, real estate agents and both internal and external property advisors.

Note 19  Receivables
Current
Receivables (a)   3   11,386 
GST receivable   1,255   277 
Prepayments   24   1 
Bills of exchange - endorsed by banks (b)   13,526   8,330 

   14,808   19,994 

(a) As at 30 June 2008, there were no doubtful or impaired receivables.
(b)  This figure consists of Bills of Exchange accepted or endorsed by Australian banks or bank issued negotiable certificates of deposit.  

The bills, generally 14 days in length, are matured or reinvested to meet fortnightly cash requirements.

Note 20  Other current assets
Current

Accrued revenue   32   25 



   2008   2007 
   $’000   $’000 

Note 21  Property, plant and equipment

Building
At cost   325   -   
Accumulated depreciation    -   -   

   325   -   

Furniture and office equipment
At cost   100   54 
Accumulated depreciation    (23)  (15)

   77   39 

Computer equipment
At cost   117   84 
Accumulated depreciation    (73)  (53)

   44   31 

Leasehold improvements
At cost   257   129 
Accumulated depreciation    (83)  (35)

   174   94 

Capital works in progress
At cost   1,033   -   

   1,653   164 

As at 30 June 2008, there were no accumulated impaired losses on Property, plant and equipment.
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Note 21  Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at the begining and end of the reporting period are set out below.

  Capital Furniture   
  works in and office Computer Leasehold 
 Buildings progress equipment equipment improvements Total
2008 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Carrying amount at start of year - - 39 31 94 164

Additions 325 - 46 33 128 532

Transfers - 1,033 - - - 1,033

Disposals - - - - - -

Impairment losses - - - - - -

Depreciation - - (8) (20) (48) (76)

Carrying amount at end of year 325 1,033 77 44 174 1,653

Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at the begining and end of the reporting period are set out below.

  Capital Furniture   
  works in and office Computer Leasehold 
 Buildings progress equipment equipment improvements Total
2007 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Carrying amount at start of year - - 33 29 147 209

Additions - - 11 18 - 29

Transfers - - - - - -

Disposals - - - - (9) (9)

Impairment losses - - - - - -

Depreciation - - (5) (16) (44) (65)

Carrying amount at end of year - - 39 31 94 164
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  2008   2007 
   $’000   $’000 

Note 22  Infrastructure

Infrastructure
At cost   638   -   
Accumulated depreciation    -     -   
Accumulated impairment losses   -     -   

   638   -   

Reconciliation
Carrying amount at start of year   -     -   
Additions   638   -   
Depreciation expense   -     -   

Carrying amount at end of year   638   -   

Note 23 Impairment of assets

There were no indications of impairment of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets at 30 June 2008.

The Authority held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period and at reporting date there were 
no intangible assets not yet available for use.

All surplus assets at 30 June 2008 have been classified as assets held for sale or written off.
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   2008   2007 
   $’000   $’000 

Note 24  Payables
Current
Trade payables (a)   692   615 

Non-current       
Trade payables   11,498   1,364 

Note 25  Provisions
Current
Employee benefits provision
Annual leave (a)   125   101 
Long service leave (b)   84   37 

   209   138 

Other provisions
Employment on-costs (c)   13   11 
Future development obligations   6,487   15,909 

   6,500   15,920 

   6,709   16,058 

Non-current
Employee benefits provision
Long service leave (b)   93   101 

   93   101 

Other provisions
Employment on-costs (c)   5   13 
Future development obligations   3,065   1,455 

   3,070   1,468

   3,163   1,569 

(a)  Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer  
settlement for at least 12 months after reporting date. Assessments indicate that actual settlement  
of liabilities will occur as follows:

Within 12 months of reporting date   125   101 

   125   101



Note 25  Provisions (cont’d)
(b)  Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least  

12 months after reporting date. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows:

Within 12 months of reporting date   84  
More than 12 months after reporting date   93  

   177  

    
(c)  The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including workers 

compensation insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future payments. The associated expense, apart from the 
unwinding of the discount (finance cost) is included at note 11 ‘Other expenses’.

Movements in Other Provisions
Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below.

   2008   2007 
   $’000   $’000 

Future development obligation provision
Carrying amount at start of year   17,364   3,790 
Additional provisions recognised   -     13,574 
Payments / other sacrifices of economic benefits   (7,812)  -   

Carrying amount at end of year   9,552   17,364 

Employee on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of year   24   12 
Additional provisions recognised   6   12 
Payments / other sacrifices of economic benefits   (12) 

Carrying amount at end of year   18   24 

       
Note 26  Other Liabilities
Current
Accrued expenses    1,693   1,385 
Deposits (a)   -     1 
Cash in lieu   113   28 

   1,806   1,414 

(a) Deposits include deposits received on sale of land.
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   2008   2007 
   $’000   $’000 

Note 27  Borrowings
Current

Borrowings   -     -   

Non-current

Borrowings (a)   700   -   

(a) Borrowings comprise advances from the West Australian Treasury Corporation (WATC).

Note 28  Equity
Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Authority.  
The Government holds the equity interest in the Authority on behalf of the community.

Contributed equity
Balance at start of year   19,100   8,500 

Contributions by owners
Capital contribution (a)   4,000   10,600 

Balance at end of year   23,100   19,100 

(a)  Capital Contributions have been designated as contributions by owners in Treasurer’s Instruction TI 955  
‘Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities’ and are credited directly to equity.

Accumulated surplus/(deficit) (Retained earnings)
Balance at start of year   (12,216)  (3,647)
Result for the period   84   (8,569)

Balance at end of year   (12,132)  (12,216)

ARMADALE REDEvELOPMENT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2008

57



   2008   2007 
   $’000   $’000 

Note 29  Notes to the Cash Flow Statement
Reconciliation of cash

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Cash Flow Statement is reconciled to the related items in the Balance Sheet as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents   742   1,822 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to a known amount of cash.

   2008   2007 
   $’000   $’000 

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities:

Net cost of services   (1,366)  (11,321)

Non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation expense   76   65 
Resources received free of charge   -   2 
Adjustment for other non-cash items   -   204 

(Increase)/decrease in assets:
Current receivables   5,186   (15,587)
Current inventories   (9,501)  7,782 
Other current assets   (8)  (19)
Non-current inventory   (2,263)  -   

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:
Current payables   77   (1,614)
Current provisions   (9,349)  9,477 
Other current liabilities   392   (109)
Non-current payables   10,134   -   
Non-current provisions   1,594   29 

Net GST receipts/(payments) (a)   1,138   (1,259)
Change in GST in receivables/payables (b)   (1,137)  1,315 

Net cash used in operating activities   (5,027)  (11,035)

(a) This is the net GST paid/received, ie. cash transactions.
(b) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.
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   2008   2007 
   $’000   $’000 

Note 30  Commitments

Capital expenditure commitments
There were no capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure, in addition to the amounts reported in the 
financial statements.

Lease commitments
The Authority has its office premises, motor vehicle fleet and some equipment under non-cancellable operating leases. Commitments in 
relation to leases contracted for at reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, are payable as follows:

Within 1 year   265   154 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years   335   259 

   600   413 

Representing:
Cancellable operating leases   296   -   
Non-cancellable operating leases   304   413 

   600   413 

 The property lease is a non-cancellable lease with a three year term, with rent payable monthly in advance. Contingent rent provisions within the 
lease agreement require that the minimum lease payments shall be increased by CPI. Two options exist to renew the lease at the end of the term.

The equipment lease has a four year term, with rent payable on a monthly basis. There is an option to renew the lease at the end of the term

Other commitments

The Authority has approved the acquisition of land to be utilised for the purpose of road widening. Commitments in relation to this at 
reporting date, not recognised as liabilities, are as follows:     
Within 1 year   118   -   
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years   -     -   

   118   -   

Commitments are inclusive of GST.
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Note 31 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
The Authority has no contingent assets. 
As at balance sheet date, the Authority does not have any contingent liabilities. 

Note 32 Events occurring after the balance sheet date:
The Authority is not aware of any events, favourable or unfavourable, that have occurred after the balance sheet date.

Note 33 Explanatory Statements 
Significant variations between estimated and actual results for income and expense are shown below.  Significant variations are considered 
to be those greater than 10% or $5 million.

Significant variations between estimate and actual results for 2008.
 2008 2008 
 Estimates Actual Variation
 $’000 $’000 $’000

Supplies and services 858 1,691 833
Depreciation and amortisation expense 56 76 20
Finance costs 371 427 56
Accommodation expenses 358 156 (202)
Cost of land sold 1,274 172 (1,102)
Land sales 2,384 1,707 (677)
Interest revenue 815 1,121 306
Commonwealth grants 0 619 619
Other revenue 47 244 197

Supplies and services 
The variance is due to higher than expected activity levels in the current year resulting in increased expenditure, particularly in relation to 
master planning costs.

Depreciation expense
The variance is due to higher levels of property, plant and equipment acquisitions in the current year.  

Finance costs
Finance costs are interest charges payable to LandCorp for development works on the Forrestdale Business Park project undertaken on behalf 
of the Authority. The decline in finance costs is as a result of lower than expected activity in the current year.

Accommodation expenses
The variance is due to lower than expected increases in accommodation charges.

Cost of land sold
The variance is due to lower than expected sales activity in the current financial year as a result of sales being deferred out to the next financial year.

Land sales
The variance is due to sales being lower than expected as a result of being re-forecast into the next financial year.

Interest revenue
The variance is due to higher cash balances being available for investment during the current year as a result of lower than expected levels of 
development expenditure.

Commonwealth grants
The variance is due to grant funding received from Watersmart Australia in the current financial year. This funding was not included in the 
2008 Estimates.
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Note 33 Explanatory Statements (cont’d)

Significant variations between actual results for 2007 and 2008
 2008 2007 
 Actual Actual Variation
 $’000 $’000 $’000

Employee benefits expense 1,261 797 464
Supplies and services 1,691 1,918 (227)
Depreciation and amortisation expense 76 65 11
Finance cost 427 120 307
Accommodation expenses 156 86 70
Cost of land sold 172 32,488 (32,316)
Other expenses 1,274 1,049 225
Land sales 1,707 24,307 (22,600)
Interest revenue 1,121 849 272
Commonwealth grants 619 0 619
Other revenue 244 55 189

Employee benefits expense
The number of full time equivalent employees (FTE) at the Authority in the current year increased from 8.45 in the previous year to 14.86.

Supplies and services 
The variance is due to an increase decline in activity, particularly in relation to master planning costs, in the current year. 

Depreciation expense
The increase in depreciation expense is a result of an increase in the value of property, plant and equipment holdings at the Authority.

Finance costs
The increase in finance costs is due to an increase in development work undertaken by LandCorp on behalf of the Authority, for which the 
Authority pays interest charges.

Cost of land sold
The variance is due to the recognition of costs of sale in conjunction with the sale of Champion Lakes development rights in the previous year.

Other expenses 
The variance is due to an increase in public infrastructure expenditure in the Armadale City Centre and Kelmscott District Centre projects

Land sales
The variance is due to the recognition of the sale of Champion Lakes development rights in the previous year.

Interest revenue
The increase in interest revenue is due to higher cash balances available for investment during the current year, as a result of lower than 
expected development expenditure.

Commonwealth grants
The variance is due to the receipt of a grant from Watersmart Australia in the current year.
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Note 33 Explanatory Statements (cont’d) 

Other revenue
The variance is due to the receipt of grant funding from the State Government and increases in the number of development applications in 
the current year.

Note 34 Financial Instruments
(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
Financial instruments held by the Authority are cash and cash equivalents, borrowings, receivables, and payables.  The Authority has limited 
exposure to financial risks. The Authority’s overall risk management program focuses on managing the risks identified below.

Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Authority’s receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss 
to the Authority.  The Authority measures credit risk on a fair value basis and monitors risk on a regular basis.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance sheet date in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the gross carrying amount 
of those assets inclusive of any provisions for impairment as shown in the table at Note 34(c).

Credit risk associated with the Authority’s financial assets is minimal because the Authority trades only with recognised, creditworthy third 
parties. The Authority has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit 
history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Authority’s exposure to bad debts is minimal. 
There are no significant concentrations of credit risk.

Provision for impairment of financial assets is calculated based on past experience, and current changes in client ratings. For financial assets 
that are either past due or impaired, refer to Note 19 Receivables.

Liquidity risk
The Authority is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business.  Liquidity risk arises when the Authority is unable 
to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.

The Authority has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of bills of exchange by monitoring forecast cash flows 
to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.

Market risk
The Authority does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks (for example, equity securities or commodity 
prices changes).  The Authority’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relate primarily to the long-term debt obligations.  The 
Authority’s borrowings are all obtained through the Western Australian Treasury Corporation (WATC) and are at fixed rates with varying 
maturities.  The risk is managed by WATC through portfolio diversification and variation in maturity dates.  Other than as detailed in the Interest 
rate sensitivity analysis table at Note 34(c), the Authority is not exposed to interest rate risk because, cash and cash equivalents and restricted 
cash are non-interest bearing and have no borrowings other than the WATC borrowings.
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Note 34 Financial Instruments (cont’d)

(b) Categories of Financial Instrument 
In addition to cash, the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets  
and financial liabilities at the balance sheet date are as follows:

  2008 20007
  $’000 $’000

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents  742 1,822
Loans and receivables (a)  13,553 19,718

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost  14,696 3,393

(a) The amount of loans and receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO.

(c) Financial Instrument Disclosures

Credit Risk, Liquidity Risk and Interest Rate Risk Exposures

The following table details the exposure to liquidity risk and interest rate risk as at the balance sheet date.  The Authority’s maximum exposure 
to credit risk at the balance sheet date is the carrying amount of the financial assets as shown on the following table.  The table is based 
on information provided to senior management of the Authority.  The contractual maturity amounts in the table are representative of the 
undiscounted amounts at the balance sheet date.  An adjustment for discounting has been made where material.

The Authority does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to the financial assets it holds.

The Authority does not hold any financial assets that had to have their terms renegotiated that would have otherwise resulted in them being 
past due or impaired.
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Note 34 Financial Instruments (cont’d)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the Authority’s financial assets and liabilities at the balance 
sheet date on the surplus for the period and equity for a 1% change in interest rates. It is assumed that the change in interest rates is  
held constant throughout the reporting period.

 Carrying -1% change +1% change
 amount Profit Equity Profit Equity
2008 ($000’s) ($000’s) ($000’s) ($000’s) ($000’s)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 741 (7) - 7 -
Receivables 13,526 (135) - 135 -

Financial Liabilities
Payables 10,499 (105) - 105 -
Borrowings 700 (7) - 7 -
Other financial liabilities
  (254) - 254 -

 Carrying -1% change +1% change
 amount Profit Equity Profit Equity
2007 ($000’s) ($000’s) ($000’s) ($000’s) ($000’s)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1,821 (18) - 18 -
Receivables 8,330 (83) - 83 - 
Other financial assets

Financial Liabilities
Payables 1,364 14 - (14) -

  (88) - 88 -

Fair Values

All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the balance sheet, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts 
that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.



Note 35  Remuneration of members of the Accountable Authority and senior officers
Remuneration of members of the Accountable Authority
The number of members of the Accountable Authority, whose total fees, salaries, superannuation and other benefits for the financial year, fall 
within the following bands are:
    2008   2007 
 $    
 Nil       - 10,000   -   4 
 10,001 - 20,000   5   1 
 20,001 - 30,000   1   1 

Total remuneration ($’000) of the members of the Accountable Authority is:   87   72 

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Authority in respect of members of the Accountable Authority.  
No members of the Accountable Authority are members of the Pension Scheme.

Remuneration of senior officers    
The number of senior officers, other than senior officers reported as members of the Accountable Authority, whose total fees, salaries, 
superannuation and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:

 $   2008   2007 
 80,001 - 90,000    1  
 110,001 - 120,000   1
 120,001 - 130,000   1  
 130,001 - 140,000   1   -   
 140,001 - 150,000    1 
 150,001 - 160,000   2   -   
 180,001 - 190,000    1 
 220,001 - 230,000   1   -   

Total remuneration ($’000) of senior officers is:   789   525 

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Authority in respect of senior officers other than senior officers 
reported as members of the Accountable Authority.   

No senior officers are members of the pension scheme.
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    2008   2007 
    $’000   $’000 

Note 36  Remuneration of auditor    
Remuneration to the Auditor General for the financial year is as follows: 

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance indicators   23   17

Note 37 Supplementary financial information:

Write-offs
There were no write-offs during the financial year, such as: bad debts, revenue and debts due to the State, or public and other property 
written off during the financial year. 

Losses through theft, default and other causes
There were no losses of public property though theft, vandalism or other circumstances during the year.

Note 38 Segment information:

The Authority operates in one reportable service segment and one geographical segment.
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